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Summary under the Criteria for the Final Determination
for the

Duwamish Tribal Organization

BASES FOR THE FINAL DETERMINATION

This Final Determination (FD) is based on a consideration of new evidence and arguments
submitted by the Duwamish Tribal organization (DTQ). The extensive evidence and
arguments presented for the Proposed Finding (PF) or generated by the Branch of
Acknowledgment and Research’s (BAR) staff in conducting its own research in preparing
the PF were also considered in making this FD. Therefore, this FD report and
accompanying charts should be read together with the PF.

ADMINISTRATIVE HISTORY
Administrative History Preceding the Proposed Finding.

The revised Federal acknowledgment regulations became effective March 28, 1994, and
they included a provision at §83.8 which allowed petitioners who had demonstrated
unambiguous previous Federal acknowledgment to proceed using a reduced evidentiary
burden. However, by a letter dated April 5, 1994, from Cecile Maxwell-Hansen to the
chief of the Branch of Acknowledgment and Research, the petitioner notified the Bureau
of Indian Affairs (BIA) under 83.3(g) of the 1994 regulations “that the Duwamish Tribe
elects to have its petition processed under the old regulations as opposed to the new
regulations published in the Federal Register on February 24, 1994.” Thus, the DTO
chose to cortinue pursuing acknowledgment under the 1978 regulations which had no
special provision for previous Federal acknowledgment.

Unless otherwise specified, citations in this report are to the 1978 regulations.
Administrative History Since the Proposed Finding.

Notice of the PF to decline to acknowledge the DTO as an Indian tribe was published in
the Federal Register (61 F.R. 33763) on June 28, 1996. This finding was based on a

-1-

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement DUW-V001-D006 Page 7 of 180



Duwamish Final Determination

determination that the petitioner met critena (d), (e), (f), and (g), but did not meet criteria
(2), (b) and (c) of section 83,7 of the acknowledgment regulations (25 C.F.R. Part 83,
1978). In accordance with section 83.9(g) of these 1978 regulations, interested parties
were given 120 days in which to submit factual or legal arguments and evidence to rebut
or support the evidence relied upon in the 1996 PF.

Subsequent to the 1996 PF, the DTO requested numerous extensions to the deadline for
their comment. The first request was for a four-month extension; the BIA granted them
their full request (123 days) on November 4, 1996. A second request for a six-month
extension was submitted January 16, 1997, and an extension of 150 days was granted by
letter of March 11, 1997. The DTO made a third request on July 23, 1997, for another
150-day extension, which the BIA granted in full by letter dated July 25, 1997. Finally, on
December 16, 1997, the DTO requested a 30-day extension which was granted by a letter
dated December 22, 1997. In this letter, the BIA notified the petitioner that no further
extensions would be granted to them. The reply period closed January 21, 1998. The
DTO had a total of £70 days in which to prepare comment after the PF was issued.

The BIA’s policy then provided for a 60-day period during which the petitioner could
respond to third-party comments. That period closed March 23, 1998. A year later,
Senator Patty Murray wrote a letter on behalf of the DTO requesting information about
the BIA’s resources, budget, and workload as it related to the petitioner. The BIA
responded in a March 26, 1999, letter to Cecile Hansen from Robert R. Jaeger, Acting
Director, Office of Tribal Services, with specific information concerning the BIA’s
workload. This letter said that the DTO would be informed when work on their petition
would begin. On February 23, 2000, the BIA received an out-of-time comment, “Puget
Sound Geography: Duwamish Place Names Recorded in 1919-22 by Theodore Talbot
Waterman."

Almost two years after the close of the comment period, the DTO was notified on
February 28, 2000, that researchers had been assigned to their case and that evaluation of
it was progressing. Three weeks earlier Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs (AS-IA)
Kevin Gover had issued a directive concerning “Changes in the Internal Processing of
Federal Acknowledgment Petitions.” In this directive, the AS-IA states thatheis
“directing the BIA that, in conducting its review of petitions and third party comments, it
is not expected or required to locate new data in any substantial way.” As a result, this
FD is based on the documents which the petitioner and third parties submitted during the
response period and the materials already in the record at the time of the PF. The AS-IA
also directs the BIA that “[i]n cases where petitioners or third parties submit data that they
have not analyzed, the BIA shall not itself conduct extensive analysis of these data to
demonstrate that the criteria have or have not been met. . . .” Therefore, BIA analysis
done for this FD is done to evaluate the analysis or data submitted by the petitioner in
order to determine whether their statements are accurate; new analyses based on
alternative theories developed by the BIA is not made.

2-
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OVERVIEW OF THE DUWAMISH PROPOSED FINDING

1. Introduction: Relationship of the Summary under the Criteria to the Technical
Reports. ‘

Decisions on Federal acknowledgment of Indian tribes are made by the Assistant Secretary

- Indian Affairs, under the authority delegated to him by the Secretary of the Interior. The

ultimate responsibility for acknowledgment decisions lies with the AS-IA. These are

Departmental decisions, not BIA or BAR, decisions, as sometimes stated by the petitioner
~ and the commenters. ‘

To produce the Duwamish PF, the BAR, which is located within the Office of Tribal
Services of the BIA, first conducted a review of the documented petition, next initiated
research to analyze the documented petition, and finally made recommendations to the
Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs. The Summary Under the Criteria and Evidence for
the Proposed Finding was accompanied by three technical reports prepared by BIA
researchers -- an anthropologist, genealogist and historian. These technical reports
analyzed and evaluated the evidence submitted by the petitioner and gathered by the BIA
during the evaluation process.

The Summary Under the Criteria, which was the decision signed by the AS-IA, described
how the evidence available to date was weighed to determine whether the criteria were
met. The decision was based on a substantial body of evidence, derived from a variety of
sources, rather than a single document. The Summary Under the Criteria did not
specifically describe every piece of evidence relied upon, rather, it summarized how the
evidence d:d or did not meet the criteria.

A finding considers a broad variety of evidence that is presented in a petition. The BIA
reviews and considers all materials submitted by the petitioner and by third parties, as well
as material obtained by BIA researchers. The administrative record of a case includes all
of the materials considered in reaching a determination, whether or not specifically cited,
in a technical report or decision. The administrative record also includes documents that
may support or not support the decision. The technical reports do not describe every
piece of evidence that is considered. That a particular document is cited, discussed, or
described in a technical report shows that it is evidence which was considered but does not
mean that it was evidence relied upon to support the decision.

2. Duwamish Proposed Finding Conclusions under the Mandatory Criteria.
The AS-1A found in the PF that the DTO met criteria (d), (e), (f), and (g). The PF also

determined that the historical Duwamish tribe met criteria (a) and (b) before 1900, but the
petitioner (IDTO) met criterion (a) only intermittently since 1939 and did not meet (b) after

3.

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement DUW-V001-D006 Page 9 of 180



Duwamish Final Determination

1900. The PF found that the DTO was a new organization established in 1925 and
therefore did not meet criterion (c) at any time before that date, nor did the DTO arise out
of an earlier organization. Readers should consult the PF which detailed how the evidence
available at that time was insufficient to show that the petitioner as a whole met these
criteria.

Under criterion 83 "7(d), the petitioner submitted a copy of its governing document and
membership requirements, thus meeting this criterion (DTO PF Summary, 37).

Under criterion 83.7(e), the BIA determined that 386 out of 390 members on the
petitioner’s 1992 mzmbership roll clearly descend from historical Duwamish Indians. This
is more than 99 percent of the membership. Therefore, the group, as a whole, met
criterion 83.7(e) (DTO PF Summary, 39).

Under criterion 83.7(f), there is no evidence that a significant proportion of the
petitioner’s membership belongs to any federally recognized tribe. Therefore, the
petitioner met criterion 83.7(f) (DTO PF Summary, 39).

Under criterion 83.7(g), neither the petitioner nor its members were the subject of
congressional legislation that expressly terminated or prohibited the Federal relationship.
The petitioner, therefore, met criterion 83.7(g).

NEW MATERIALS UNDER CONSIDERATION FOR THE FD

The FD takes into consideration all materials in the case file at the time of the PF and all
the materials submitted by the petitioner and third parties, and located by BIA researchers,
since the issuance of the PF.

1. Comments.

The third party comments to the PF consist of four letters received by the BIA between
October 10, 1996, and February 21, 1997 Three of the letters were submitted by
individuals and one was submitted by the Tulalip Tribes, a federally recognized Indian
tribe in western Washington. These comments were not extensive.

2. Petitioner’s Response to Proposed Finding.

The petitioner’s response to the proposed finding consisted of a narrative report by the
DTO attorney, Dennis J. Whittlesey, that was received by the BIA January 21, 1998, and
corrections to that report received on the same day. Also submitted were several
categories of materials which Whittlesey claimed responded directly to criteria (), (b) or

(c).
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Materials submitted in conjunction with criterion 83.7(a) included an affidavit of Dr.
Kenneth D. Tollefson, dated January 2, 1998; Tollefson’s Curricula Vitae, dated January
1997; and seven articles written by Tollefson. These articles were published between
1989 and 1996.

Reports by Linda M. Dombrowski and Dr. Stephen Dow Beckham were submitted
concerning criterion 83.7(b). Dombrowski’s article “Continuity of Duwamish Tribal
Membership™ was dated January 1998. Beckham’s article “Duwamish Indian Tribe: Tribal
Initiatives, 1696-1935 and the Continuity of Membership” was dated January 1998.
Appendices were attached to both of these reports.

Another report, entitled “Duwamish Indian Modern Community,” was submitted in
conjunction with discussion of criterion 83.7(c). This report was written by Dr. Micheal
D. Roe. His curricula vitae was also submitted.

An “Exhibits Volume” consisted of 47 file folders, almost all containing genealogical
charts. Some of the individuals on these charts are identified by the petitioner as being on
various membership lists for either the historical Duwamish tribe or the present-day DTO.

On February 23, 2000, the Department received a comment after the close of the public
comment period. This comment was a report prepared for the petitioner by Stephen Dow
Beckham, dated September 30, 1999, and entitled “Puget Sound Geography: Duwamish
Place Names Recorded in 1919-22 by Theodore Talbot Waterman.” Pursuant to Section
83.10(1)(1), comments submitted after the close of the response period “will not be
considered in the preparation of a final determination.” This comment was forwarded to
the Office o the Solicitor for retention and submission to the Interior Board of Indian
Appeals in the event of an appeal, or to the Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs in the
event of a rernand.  Although this comment was not considered for purposes of this Final
Determination, it appears to be material considered for the PF. The bibliography for the
PF cited the personal papers of T. T. Waterman in box 1864 at the National
Anthropological Archives at the Smithsonian Institution in Washington, D.C. Beckham
(p.86) cites Waterman’s “Puget Sound Geography” as “MS No. 1864, National
Anthropological Archives, Smithsonian Institution, Washington, DC.”

3. Petitioner's Response to Third Party Comments.

The petitioner did not respond to the materials submitted by informed and/or interested
parties.

OVERVIEW OF ISSUES RAISED BY DTO

The petitioner repeatedly raises issues which fail to address the historical facts of the case,

-5-
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to respond specifically to the 1996 PF’s determinations, and to link their submitted
materials to the PF or criteria (a), (b), and (c). Rather, DTO addresses what it construes
as an unfair administrative process and an unwillingness on the part of the BIA to accept
their researcher’s stbmissions without question or evaluation.

1. The petitioner argues that the disruptive events of history mitigate the absence of
evidence in their case; and argue that it is remarkable that the petitioner has remained
together in the face of this adversity.

One thread of the petitioner’s argument is that the mistreatment of Indians during the
contact period should reduce their burden to show that they meet the regulations.
Understanding the Fistorical context in which documents were created is taken into
consideration during the evaluation. The contact deprivations suffered by some of the
DTO ancestors, like many other Indians, were harsh. However, many other of the
petitioner’s ancestors were married to non-Indians who owned land and businesses, and
successfully participated in the new economy and non-Indian society.! The activities of
individuals in both groups appear to be documented. Thus in this case, it does not appear
that absence of documentation for group activities is due to harsh circumstances which
destroyed significant evidence; rather, it results because evidence cannot exist for events,
activities, meetings, and interactions that never occurred.

The 25 C F.R. Part 83 regulations allow the evaluators to take into consideration impacts
which may affect the availability of documents, or to explain fluctuations of tribal activity;
however, they do not allow the evaluation to overlook a lack of tribal continuity even if it
is caused by the impact of contact.

2. The petitioner argues that academic articles of Dr. Tollefson, the petitioner’s
researcher, were ignored by the BIA researchers.

The petition resporse includes seven articles by the petitioner’s primary researcher,
anthropologist Kennieth Tollefson. These articles, written by the petitioner’s primary
researcher, are from academic journals. Attorney Whittlesey also submits an affidavit by
Tollefson in which he states, “Based on my analysis and the past 11 years of field research,
I have found a continuous existence of the tribe and a continuous identification of the tribe
[DTO] by outside entities, etc.”

Whittlesey holds that Tollefson, as the petitioner’s researcher and expert, is due deference
in determining whether the petitioner meets the criteria (DTO 1998, 10). It should be

' The petitiorer’s specific examples of treatment after contact rarely refer to the DTO
ancestors. For example, see Beckham’s discussion of illness documented in the Catholic church
records, XI. St. George School, Archives, Chancery Office, Seattle, Washington and the analy:i«
in this report.

-6-
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noted that Tollefson’s work is not widely accepted, and in fact goes against prevailing
academic opinion specifically on the topic of proto-contact Duwamish political
organization. This controversy is highlighted in several articles in the academic literature
not submitted by the petitioner and is noted by the BIA researchers in the PF and this
summary report. With this in mind, the BIA’s evaluation of Tollefson’s articles has also
found that several of them were irrelevant because they concerned tribes other than the
petitioner, related to the aboriginal or pre-treaty period which is not at issue here because
the petitioner’s ancestors were part of a tribal entity that met the criteria during that early
time period, or are general theoretical papers containing little factual information which
would prov.de evidence under the regulatory criteria.

Tollefson’s Duwamish publications fail to provide citations to documents or interviews to
support his assertions. Discrepancies between his assertions and the evidence submitted
by the petitioner are discussed in this summary under criteria (a), (b) and (c), and in the
charts accompanying this summary report. Many of his assertions conflict with the
findings of the BIA, which were based on primary documentary evidence contemporary
with the activities being discussed.

The petitiorer’s attorney placed these articles in an envelope labeled, “Materials Submitted
in Conjunct.on with Discussion of Criterion 83.7(a).” Because the articles sometimes
discussed issues concerning community and political authority, criteria 83.7(b) and (c), the
BIA evaluators drew out of these articles any topics and points which related to the
deficiencies in the petition that were noted in the PF.

Attorney Whittlesey argues that the failure of the BIA to include the seven articles in the
evaluation for the PF is a serious error and requires a new review of the petition “ab
initio,” or from the beginning. The 1978 regulations state at 83.6(d): “The Department
shall not be responsible for the actual research on behalf of the petitioner.”? The burden to
submit evidence to demonstrate the DTO meets the acknowledgment criteria lies with the
petitioner. ‘No harm, however, resulted from the petitioner’s not submitting these articles
for the PF because they were reviewed for this FD.> The BIA charts which lay the

? This quotation also is found in the 1994 regulations at 83.5(c).

* The petitioner submitted as part of the response to the PF, a draft of an unsigned letter to
Hazel Elbert on Seattle Pacific University letterhead (Duwamish Tribal Council 9/20/1988). A
later letter dces submit the 1994 article which is referenced in the PF’s technical report’s
bibliography. It states that four of the articles are submitted with the letter. However, the BIA has
no record in their Duwamish administrative file of receiving either the documents or the letter, and
letters from raonths surrounding the date of this draft imply that no letter was received in the
intervening months. Nevertheless, even if the BIA had received the documents as part of a late
response or as part of another petition’s documentation and had not included them in the
Duwamish record, the problem is now cured by evaluation of these articles during this FD.

7.
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foundation for the F' show in detail the BIA evaluation of these articles under the
regulatory criteria.

In addition, Tollefsor: was the petitioner’s primary researcher and the principal author of
the original petition. The BIA is entitled to assume that Tollefson’s opinions, research,
and analysis are best presented in the petition, the primary vehicle for demonstrating that
his client meets the criteria. The BIA may fairly assume that if Tollefson had published
information that related to the petitioner’s ability to meet the criteria, he most likely would
have incorporated that information into the petitioner’s original petition.

Finally, in numerous technical assistance meetings with Tollefson,* petitioner members and
their attorney, the BIA requested the kinds of data which would have enabled the
petitioner to demonstrate that they actually interacted with one another or undertook
political activities.

3. The Petition and Narrative include a sociological study that is methodologically
flawed and does not speak to the criteria as they have been applied since 1978.

Part of the petitioner’s submission is “Duwamish Indian Modern Community” by Michael
D. Roe, dated January 19, 1998. Problems with the methods used by Roe will be
discussed in sections of this report dealing with criteria (b) and (c). Generally, Roe’s work
was biased toward a small group of leaders and their families and made no attempt to
determine whether they are representative of the entire petitioning group.

4. The petitioner does not coherently link the response and the various sub-parts of it to
specific acknowledgment criteria. The reports do not speak to the criteria.

The DTO response arranges the petition materials according to the criteria: Several *
brown envelopes contain the studies commissioned by the DTO as part of their response
to the PF. Affixed to the front of three of the envelopes is a notation that the contents are
in response to either criterion (a), (b), or (c). However, the contents generally do not
directly speak to each criteria and frequently appear irrelevant to the criteria to which they
purportedly respond. The BIA evaluators have attempted to review each envelope’s
contents, in whole or in part, under the relevant criterion or criteria.

“ The petitioner’s attorney and researchers have worked on this case and other
acknowledgment cases in western Washington.

-8-
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SUMMARY CONCLUSIONS UNDER THE CRITERIA
(25 C.F.R. 83.7 (a) - (2))

INTENT OF THE ACKNOWLEDGMENT REGULATIONS

The Federal Government has an obligation to protect and preserve the inherent sovereign
rights of all Indian tribes, whether a tribe has been recognized in the past or not. See
Passamaquoddy v. Morton 528F. 2d 370 (I*' Cir. 1975). The regulations governing the
acknowledgment process (25 C.F.R. Part 83) state the mandatory criteria that
unrecognized groups must meet to be acknowledged as meriting a government-to-
government. relationship with the United States.

The legal precedents for acknowledgment are codified in the regulations. These
precedents also provide the fundamental bases for interpreting the regulations. The
acknowledgment criteria are based on and consistent with past determinations of tribal
existence by Congress, the Courts, and the Executive Branch. These past determinations
have requirzd that to be acknowledged as having tribal status, a group must have
maintained its social solidarity and distinct “community” and exercised political influence
or authority over its members throughout history until the present.

Fundamental to the definition of a tribe is the nature of tribal membership. The
Department. has long said that an Indian tribe is an entity whose members maintain a
bilatéral poitical relationship with the tribe. The courts have supported this interpretation
in Masayesva v. James 792 F. Supp. 1178 (D. Ariz. 1992)), United Houma Nation v.
Babbitt 1997 WL403425 (D.D.C. 1997), and Miami Nation of Indians of Indiana v.
Babbitt, 887 F.Supp. 1158 (N.D.Ind. 1995).

The preamble to the acknowledgment regulations published in 1978 indicated their intent
by stating that “groups of descendants will not be acknowledged solely on a racial basis.
Maintenance of tribal relations — a political relationship - is indispensable” (BIA 1978,
39361-2). The regulations require that petitioners have continuously maintained a
significant level of community and political influence or authority in order to be entitled to
a government-to-government relationship with the United States.
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CRITERION A

83.7 (a) A statement of facts establishing that the
petitioner has been identified from
historical times until the present on a
substantially continuous basis, as
“American Indian” or “aboriginal.”

Proposed Finding

The PF for the DTC petition was published in 1996. It concluded that external
identifications of the: petitioner “have been found only for the years since 1939” (DTO PF
Summary, 4). The PF noted that a historical Duwamish tribe had been identified by
outside observers in the 1850's and by the Federal Government in 1855 treaty
negotiations. In adclition, two traditional Duwamish villages were identified by external
observers as late as 1900. However, there was insufficient evidence to establish a
reasonable likelihood that the present-day DTO maintained a continuous connection to the
historical Duwamish Indian tribe or to demonstrate the DTQ’s identification as an
American Indian entity on a substantially continuous basis from historical times to the
present.

There were several reasons for the petitioner’s failure to meet criterion () at the time of
the PF. Identifications of the “Duwamish and allied tribes” of the 1855 treaty continued to
be made for the century following the treaty, but those identifications applied to the
federally recognized tribes of the treaty reservations (Lummi, Port Madison, Swinomish,
and Tulalip), not to the petitioner. The identifications made of the petitioner since 1939
did not portray it as having maintained continuous existence from the treaty tribe of 1855
or from the Duwarrish villages of about 1900, and other evidence did not establish that
continuity. Most importantly, a lack of identifications between 1855 and 1939, or
between 1900 and ' 939, meant that the petitioner had not been identified on a
“substantially continuous” basis “from historical times until the present” (DTO PF
Summary, 4).

Comments on the Proposed Finding
1. The Petitioner crgues that the BIA ignored the petitioner's own researcher, while the
BIA responds that their researcher's arguments either were discussed in the PF or did

not pertain to the Duwamish.

Rather than responding to the PF with new evidence of identifications of the petitioner
prior to 1939, DTO) based its reply on an affidavit of its own researcher, Kenneth
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Tollefson, who stated that it was his “professional opinion” that the petitioner meets the
criterion. In addition, the petitioner has submitted seven published articles by its
researcher. Only two of those articles specifically address the Duwamish, and none of
those articles deal directly with the issue of the identification of the petitioner by external
observers. In general, the arguments made by this researcher in his published articles were
made in the narrative he prepared for the documented petition, and were evaluated in that
form for the PF. The only new evidence submitted for the FD was a pair of 1916
newspaper articles which referred to a Duwamish organization. That organization, which
represented only some of the petitioner’s ancestors, had been thoroughly discussed in the
PF.

The petitionier argues that since “Dr. Tollofson [sic] has been certified as an expert witness
in both state and federal courts, . . . his work and analysis has been recognized as
authoritative and entitled to deference in the matters addressed by him” (DTO 1998, 10).}
It states that Tollefson's affidavit and opinions “cannot lightly be discounted . . . just as
they would riot be discounted by judicial reviewers” (DTO 1998, 12). Tollefson states
that it is his “professional opinion” that his research has revealed “a continuous
identification of the [Duwamish] tribe by outside entities, etc.” (Tollefson 1998).

Expert testirnony is given some deference in the findings, but, as in court, is never
accepted uncritically. It must always be reasonably persuasive to gain acceptance. The
evidence supplied in Tollefson’s affidavit does not meet the requirements of criterion (a),
or the standards of proof for acknowledgment as stated in the revised regulations in §83.6.
In a codification of prior practice, the revised regulations state that a documented petition
must contain “detailed, specific evidence” in support of its request for acknowledgment
(§83.6(a) [1994]). The regulations also note that a documented petition “must include
thorough explanations and supporting documentation” in response to the criteria (§83.6(c)
[1994]). Tcllefson’s affidavit itself does not cite any examples of identification of the
petitioner as an Indian group by outside observers. The petitioner does not meet

criterion (a) solely on the basis of its request for deference to the opinions of its
researcher.

The petitioner asserts that Tollefson's seven articles were “virtually ignored” during the
review of the petition for the PF (DTQ 1998, 12). At least four of the seven articles
submitted for this FD were published affer active consideration of the petition began for
the PF, and thus were not available in time for consideration. However, Tollefson’s
submission on behalf of the petitioner for the PF presented most of the arguments made in
his articles, and his analysis was evaluated for the PF in the form it took in the petition
documentation.

The petiticner asserts that Tollefson's work “goes directly to the matters considered under

5 Note that the Government’s researchers have also appeared as expert witnesses in court.
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criterion 83.7(a). . . .” (DTO 1998, 11). Even if that were the case, only two of the seven
articles are specifica.ly about the Duwamish. In addition, Tollefson’s affidavit did not
include two of the o:her five articles among his list of his “research on the Duwamish
Tribe. . . .” (Tollefson 1998). An article about the Tlingit made no mention of the
Duwamish (Tollefson 1995a). Tollefson’s other six articles are evaluated below
individually. Even taken as a whole, Tollefson’s articles do not address the basic
requirement of criterion (a) that the DTO have been identified as an American Indian
entity by outside observers on a substantially continuous basis from historical time to the
present.

Tollefson’s 1989 article, “Political Organization of the Duwamish,” reviewed evidence
which showed that anthropologists and some eyewitness observers had discussed the
Duwamish and Duwamish culture as they existed at the time of initial contact with non-
Indians (Tollefson 1989). His 1995 article, “Duwamish Tribal Identity and Cultural
Survival,” noted that an aboriginal village near modern Renton was described by outside
observers in 1855 and 1856, and by later historians and anthropologists (Tollefson 1995b).
- The PF concluded that the first Federal officials and non-Indian settlers in western
Washington Territery identified a historical tribe of Duwamish Indians, including the
Renton village site, and that later historians, anthropologists, and the Indian Claims
Commission (ICC) concluded that a historical Duwamish tribe existed at the time of first
sustained contact with non-Indians (DTO PF Summary, 2-3; DTO PF HTR, 4-10, 26-29;
DTO PF ATR, 7-31). Thus, Tollefson’s articles were consistent with the conclusions of
the PF about the identification of a historical Duwamish tribe before and during the 1850's.

The petitioner submitted two of Tollefson’s articles about the Snoqualmie in which he
presented his “chiefdom model” (Tollefson 1987, 1996a). The Historical Technical
Report for the PF mentioned Tollefson’s chiefdom model, and its critics (DTO PF HTR,
9). Tollefson’s 1987 article included a paragraph on Chief Seattle’s alleged leadership of a
six-tribe council. In response to scholarly criticism of this article, Tollefson’s 1996 article
appeared to revise his original argument and to suggest that Chief Seattle had been head
of a confederacy that included the Duwamish and predated the treaty of 1855. The 1987
article cited anthropologist J. P. Harrington as having mentioned a historical Duwamish
village in a 1910 article, and the 1996 article cited a 1909 local history, also cited by the
Historical Technical Report, which claimed that the Duwamish had a head chief, other
than Seattle, at the time of the first non-Indian settlement of Puget Sound. This evidence
is consistent with the conclusions of the PF about the identification of a historical
Duwamish tribe before 1855.

Tollefson’s 1996 article, “Tribal Estates: A Comparative and Case Study,” included a brief
historical survey of the Duwamish (Tollefson 1996b). All of the historical issues
mentioned by Tollefson in this article -- the treaty of 1855, the relocation of the historical
Duwamish; and the Duwamish claims efforts before the Court of Claims and the ICC --
had been discussed thoroughly in the Historical Technical Report for the PF. No new
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information or argument was added by this article, except its introduction of an error
about the Indian Reorganization Act (IRA). This article cited no contemporary
identifications of the Duwamish. Thus, this article does not require any modification in the
conclusions of the PF on criterion 83.7(a).

In his 1992 article, “The Political Survival of Landless Puget Sound Indians,” Tollefson
claimed that Duwamish “communities” have existed in the form of a Sackman family
community and a Fowler family community. He then asserted that these “communities
have been consistently identified as being Indian by local historical societies” (Tollefson
1992, 221). However, Tollefson did not cite a single example of an identification of these
Sackman family or Fowler family “communities” as Indian groups by an external observer
at any time. He did not cite a single example of an identification of these family
“communities” by local historical societies. Therefore, this article provides no evidence
that the petirioner meets the requirements of criterion 83.7(a).

In the previously mentioned 1995 article, “Duwamish Tribal Identity and Cultural
Survival,” Tollefson discussed the “cultural symbols” used by the Duwamish to maintain
their sense of identity against outsiders (Tollefson 1995b). Because it focused on the
internal values rather than the external identification of an ethnic group, this article is
irrelevant to the requirements of criterion (a). In the previously mentioned 1996 article,
“Tribal Estates. A Comparative and Case Study,” Tollefson reported the results of a
survey of members of the petitioner (Tollefson 1996b). Because the results of the survey
dealt with the values and activities of members rather than with the external identification
of the petitioner, this information is irrelevant to the requirements of criterion (a).

Commenter James Bergsma of Kent, Washington, submitted a five-page comment and
copies of three historical maps (Bergsma 10/10/1996). Bergsma noted documentary
evidence of references to an Indian village on the Black River in the form of an 1869
petition by non-Indian settlers and an 1879 [1870] wisit to the village by Federal agents,
and he provided historical maps, dated 1877 and 1890, of an Indian village on the Black
River near its junction with the Cedar River (Bergsma 10/10/1996, 1-2, 4, exhibits). The
documentary evidence noted by Bergsma was discussed in the PF Historical Technical
Report (DTO PF HTR, 27, 29-30), and the maps he provided are consistent with the
conclusions of the PF. Thus, Bergsma’s evidence from the 19th century confirms the
findings of the technical reports and the PF for that period.

Bergsma also provided a copy of a 1907 survey map which showed an “Indian village” in
the vicinity cf Tukwila. He claimed that it showed that the “Duwamish maintained a tribal
presence throughout the area” after 1916 when the level of Lake Washington was
lowered, affecting the Black River settlement site (Bergsma 10/10/1996, 3, exhibit). This
map by itself did not identify this village as Duwamish or associate this village with any of
the petitioner's ancestors. It is not clear that the map referred to an existing Indian village
rather than 1o a historical village site. Contrary to Bergsma’s claim, a map of 1907 does
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not provide evidencs that a settlement continued to exist after 1916. Nor does a map of
one location provide evidence about a tribal presence throughout an area. Thus, by itself,
this map does not identify the petitioner as an Indian group in 1907 or any more recent
date.

The petitioner submitted copies of two newspaper articles from Tacoma in 1916. The
article of December 24, 1916, recounted the history of the aboriginal Duwamish tribe as
told by claims activist Thomas Bishop. The article stated that, “Charles Satiacum, is now
recognized chief of -he remnants of this once powerful branch of the old Salishan
Indians. . . .” It also stated that, “The Duwamish tribe is now disbanded. . . .”

(Exhibit 47). The 1916 article both identified a contemporary group led by Satiacum and
identified it as an entity other than the “disbanded” historical Duwamish tribe. Thus, it
assumed a break in historical continuity. The PF technical reports evaluated the
membership of Satiacum’s group, as well as the “enrollment” process of Indian Agent
Charles Roblin referenced in the articles. The PF concluded that only a portion of the
petitioner’s ancestors belonged to Satiacum’s group in 1915 and that the petitioner had
not shown that it had evolved from Satiacum’s group. Thus, this identification of an
Indian entity has not been shown to be an identification of the petitioner.

The lists of the unerirolled Indians of Washington State produced by Agent Roblin in 1919
were discussed in the technical reports and PF (DTO PF Summary, 3; DTO PF HTR, 41-
45). The petitioner argues that although Roblin was not instructed to identify tribes, his
1917 notice to potential enrollees was directed to members of tribes (DTO 1998, 13).
However, the petitioner’s quotation from Roblin shows that he asked potential enrollees
to show that they were either a member of a tribe or descended from a tribal member.
Thus, contrary to the petitioner’s interpretation, individual descendants could be included
on Roblin’s lists without being identified as a member of a contemporary tribe or group.
Roblin’s report identified only Cowlitz and Snoqualmie entities. The petitioner’s
argument on this issue provides no basis for changing the conclusion of the DTO PF that
Roblin’s list of 1919 1dentified individuals rather than a Duwamish group or entity.
Roblin’s instructions and report do not meet the requirements of criterion 83.7(a) for the
Duwamish.

2. The petitioner claims that the PF “glossed over the identification of Duwamish as an
Indian entity in 1953 by both Congress and the BIA. . . .”

The petitioner alleges that the PF “elected to ignore” this identification (DTO 1998, 13).
On the contrary, the PF said: “Both Congress and the BIA identified this organization as
an Indian entity in 1953” (DTO PF Summary, 3). Thus, the PF explicitly accepted this
evidence as an identification of an Indian entity. Rather than glossing over this evidence,
the PF Historical Technical Report discussed it in detail (DTO PF HTR, 66-68). That
technical report also showed, however, that the identifications made in the 1953
congressional report were inconsistent, with some references identifying Duwamish
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Indians as the Indians of the four treaty reservations and with congressional staff, but not
the BIA, listing a Duwamish organization. Other evidence showed that the BIA dealt with
an organization of Duwamish descendants in 1953 only for limited, specific purposes. The
identificaticns made in 1953 applied to 1953. Such identifications are acceptable evidence
for 1953 but not for the entirety of the historical period.

3. Comment by Third Parties

Commenter Bergsma submitted copies of local newspaper articles from the years between
1990 and 1596 which described the activities of the members of a Duwamish group
(Bergsma 10/10/1996, 3, exhibits). These articles identified a contemporary Indian group,
which appezrs to be the petitioner, and therefore, identified the petitioner as an Indian
entity in the 1990's. This evidence does not apply to the period prior to 1990. This
evidence about the decade of the 1990's is consistent with the conclusion of the DTO PF
that identifications of the petitioner had been made since 1939.

Comments were received from three other third parties (Giese 2/18/1997; Gleeson
2/20/1997; Tulalip Tribes 2/21/1997) which do not address the requirements of
criterion 83 7(a) nor the conclusions of the PF on criterion 83.7(a).

Evaluation

The petitioner claims to link, without a break in continuity, to Indians who lived in the
southern Puget Sound area before 1855. These Indians lived at the confluence of the
Black, Cedar, and Duwamish Rivers south of Lake Washington, as well as along the
Green and White Rivers, around Lake Washington, and along the eastern shore of Puget
Sound in the area of Elliott Bay. These Indians and their geographical territories were
identified ir. numerous historical records. In 1855, Federal negotiators combined the
Duwamish and other tribes or bands into confederated “treaty tribes” for the purposes of
making a treaty. The Federal Government continued to identify and deal with treaty-
reservation Indians as the “Duwamish and allied tribes” until approximately 1900. After
that date, the PF found that no Duwamish entity was identified in contemporary
Government documents or other records until 1939.

The PF found that these 19th century identifications of a historical Duwamish tribe did not
identify the petitioner as a historical entity because the petitioner’s organization is actually
a new organization which was established in 1925 by Duwamish descendants. It is not the
historical Duwamish tribe or a modern reorganization of the historical Duwamish tribe.
The PF found that the petitioner formed in 1925 when eight men announced their
“intention of forming” an organization. The membership, leadership and activities were
substantially different than the Duwamish tribe identified in earlier documents. Not until
1939, did documents created by outside observers identify the new organization -- the

-15-

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement DUW-V001-D006 Page 21 of 180



Duwamish Final Determination
petitioner -- as an Indian entity.

The new submissions in response to the PF included an affidavit of Kenneth Tollefson, the
petitioner’s researcher, and seven journal articles written by him. The affidavit was dated
January 2, 1998, and asserts that the petitioner is “the successor in interest to a political
continuation of the historic treaty signers of the Point Elliott Treaty of 1855.” This 1998
identification of the petitioner as an Indian entity does not respond to the requirement of
criterion 83.7(a) with any contemporary identifications before 1940. It is not evidence
that changes the PF. This affidavit, however, does add a contemporary identification
dating to 1998 to the evidence for criteria 83.7(a).

The seven articles also do not change the PF. Only two of the articles are about the
Duwamish, and nore of the those articles directly address the issue of the petitioner’s
identification by external observers as required under criterion 83.7(a). In general, the
arguments made by Tollefson in these articles had been made in the narrative prepared and
submitted as part of the documented petition evaluated under the PF. They do not change

- the PF under 83.7(a) because they do not refer to new contemporary evidence identifying
the petitioner as an Indian entity before 1939, although are acceptable for the identification
of the petitioner from the last decade. The petitioner already met criterion 83.7(a) for the
last decade (and for the period following 1940) for the PF.

The only new documentation submitted that relates to criterion 83.7(a) and DTO’s status
prior to 1939 includes two newspaper articles concerning a Duwamish organization in
1916. This organization was thoroughly discussed in the PF and found not to represent
the same organization as the petitioner’s organization, which was founded a decade later.
These articles, therefore, do not identify the petitioner’s organization and are not relevant
evidence under 83.7(a). Therefore, they do not change the PF that identifications of this
1916 organization do not apply to the petitioner.

New or reasserted analysis was also proposed by the petitioner concerning the 1953
identifications of the petitioner’s organization by Congress and the BIA. The petitioner
claims that the BIA. “glossed over” these identifications. However, the PF accepted these
identifications as evidence under 83.7(a). Therefore, they do not change the PF that
identifications were: made of the petitioner in the 1950's.

Commenter Bergsraa, an informed party, submitted local newspaper articles from 1990 to
1996. This new evidence of identification of the petitioner’s organization as an Indian
entity pertains to the 1990's. This evidence agrees with the PF that the petitioner in the
1990s was identified by outsiders as an Indian group at that time. It does not change the
PF that the petitioner was not identified as an Indian entity on a substantially continuous
basis from historical times to the present.

The comments on the DTO PF provide no basis for changing the PF’s conclusion that

-16-

]
United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement DUW-V001-D006 Page 22 of 180



Duwamish Final Determination

there is insuflicient evidence of a substantially continuous series of identifications that
connect the contemporary petitioner with the historical tribe and demonstrate its
- continuous icentification by external observers from historical times until the present.

The available evidence does not show that the petitioner was identified by external
observers on a substantially continuous basis prior to 1939. Therefore, the petitioner does
not meet the requirements of criterion 83.7(a).

Summary Conclusion under Criterion 83.7(a)

The evidence provided is not sufficient to show outside identification of a historical
Duwamish tribe or band antecedent to the petitioner from 1855 to the present, on a
substantially continuous basis. The DTO petitioner does not meet criterion 83.7(a).

CRITERION B

83.7 (b) Evidence that a substantial portion of the
petitioning group inhabits a specific area or lives
in a community viewed as American Indian and
distinct from other populations in the area, and
that its members are descendants of an Indian
tribe which historically inhabited a specific area.

Proposed Finding.

The PF found that the available evidence did not show that the DTO was a continuation of
the historical Duwamish Indian tribe.

Some of the evidence submitted by the petitioner in response to the PF attempts to refute
the above proposition by showing that:

1. The petitioner’s ancestors were part of the historical Duwamish tribe
before and after 1898,

2. The 1915 and 1926 lists of individuals identified as Duwamish represent
a single and continuous entity; and

3. The petitioner has maintained a community under the regulations
between 1925 and the present.
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All of these issues concern the continuity of the petitioner and respond to the question
required by the regulations: Does the current petitioner represent a continuously existing
entity? In the remainder of this section questions raised by the PF and the submissions will
be addressed chrorologically.

Comments on the Proposed Finding

1. Did the petitioner submit new evidence which establishes that their ancestors were
part of the historical Duwamish tribe after 18987

The DTO PF found that the petitioner’s ancestors were widely distributed in non-Indian
communities and family enclaves around Puget Sound and did not interact with each other
or with the Duwamish Indians who were living on reservations or in Indian communities.
The petitioner’s cornment states that this residential distribution pattern was caused by the
impact of European contact and refers to one of their researcher’s published articles.
Tollefson says that, after European settlers arrived in the Duwamish area in 1850, they
appropriated land and resources from the Duwamish and undermined their political
economy, reducing; their “chiefdoms™ to isolated communities and enclaves of Indian
families.

Past evaluations of petitions have taken into account historical situations when interpreting
the evidence under the 1978 and the 1994 regulations. Specifically, the DTO evaluations
take into account the impact that certain social conditions, such as contact, racism, war,
poverty, or forced movement of the Duwamish to reservations may have had on the
availability or the destruction of records. However, historical events do not cancel the
regulation’s requirements to demonstrate continuous existence of a tribal community
under criterion (b).

In this case, the DTO’s interpretation of historical events pertaining to its ancestors is not
accurate or complzte, even when the circumstances of contact are taken into
consideration. For example, Tollefson’s article referred to above does not give specific
descriptions of each of the petitioner’s isolated family enclaves which the writer says were
widely distributed in the Puget Sound region. The PF found that many Duwamish
maintained contact with one another or those who moved to reservations, despite the
impact of Euro-Anerican settlement. However, these Duwamish were not the petitioner’s
ancestors. The petitioner’s ancestors were not in contact with the Duwamish tribe.

As described in the PF, the petitioner descends primarily from a number of Indian women
who married non-Indian pioneers. These married women’s families were widely
distributed in western Washington, often in households composed of a nuclear family. .
The petitioner has not demonstrated that the petitioner’s ancestors interacted with one
another or with cther Indians or maintained social networks or geographical communities.
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Other evidence indicates that they did not.

In another ariicle, Tollefson makes a specific description of one residence area where the
Sackman family lived (Tollefson 1992, 99-100). His 1992 article discusses a logging
settlement, headed by a white man, Daniel Sackman, who married an Indian woman
named Marie (Sanko or Sanchos, according to the petitioner). He maintains that the
“Sackman logging community” was a Duwamish Indian community. Tollefson states:

Many of Marie’s relatives settled around the Sackmans and formed a
Duwamish community based upon logging and their traditional subsistence
econiomy. Daniel Sackman, a white man, served as cultural broker and
advocate for the settlement. Three Sackman sons married local Indians,
inherted their father’s logging business, and perpetuated their community
and the Duwamish culture . . . some twenty or thirty Indians usually resided
in the community (Tollefson 1992, 99).

The PF discussed at length the Sackman logging community. The PF found that the
Sackmans were not generally interacting with other Duwamish Indians, even if they did
communicats with the Garrison family, also a pioneer-Duwamish marriage family.
Evidence for the PF showed that the community where the Sackmans lived and worked
from 1860 through 1890 was a multi-racial logging community, not an Indian or
Duwamish community. People of Asian, African, and European heritage and Indians,
including mixed-bloods, from several tribes lived there and worked for Daniel Sackman.
Also, no documentary evidence was submitted which supports the author’s contentions
that the Garrisons and the Sackmans were interacting between 1860 and 1916 with the
Indians from the Lake Fork, Lake Washington, Green/White Rivers, or the Port Madison
and Muckleshoot Reservations, where the Duwamish Indians had been relocated.

The PF stressed that the people identified as Duwamish in records and often cited in the
petition did not interact with the petitioner’s ancestors. Rather, they eventually moved to
reservations and do not have descendants on the petitioner’s membership list:

A historical Duwamish tribe, which existed at the time of first sustained
contact with non-Indians, was later identified by ethnographers, historians,
and the Indian Claims Commission. The existence of a Duwamish
comrmunity at a traditional location near the junction of the Black and
Cedar Rivers was identified by external observers as late as 1900. These
... various Duwamish entities before 1900 and after 1940, however, do
not identify the same entity. . . . (61 Fed. Reg. 33763).

In partial response, the petitioner submitted several sets of excerpts from Catholic Church
records compiled in an attempt to show that some of their ancestors were interacting with
other Indians. Utilizing the 1915 Duwamish list (the list of individuals associated with
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Chief Satiacum’s Duwamish Tribe) as a guide for identifying Duwamish ancestors, the
petitioner’s historical researcher Stephen Dow Beckham copied 13 items dating from
1876 through 1899 from the Catholic church chancery office.

The following names appeared in these Catholic records: Adams, Seattle, Contrero,
Dixon, Garrison, James, John, Kanim, Hilaire, Jack, Kelly, Kelley, Kitsap, Wanasaeh,
Slarem (Beckham 1998, Appendix A). Beckham asserts that the 13 selected records
demonstrate:

... not only the concentration of Duwamish families in specific missions
and parishes, they document the connections of family and friendship. This
is seen clearly in the sponsors and witnesses to marriages and baptisms.
The church became another place where Duwamish families affirmed and
renewed their ties in the early twentieth century (Beckham 1998, 41).

Beckham’s interpre:ation of this evidence is problematical. The BIA found that only
seven of these 13 records cited more than one family line. Two of these seven records list
the names Garrison and James, which are surnames found on the petitioners’ membership
list, although in small numbers. The petitioner has not shown whether any of those named
in the church recorcs have actual descendants in the petitioner. It appears that most, if not
all, of those listed bezlong to the Duwamish who moved to reservations in the late 19th
century and do not 1ave descendants in the current petitioner or on the 1926 list. The six
records mentioning a single family line do not show the petitioner’s ancestors interacting
with Indians other tnan their own immediate family members. Even if these documents
concerned the petitioner’s ancestors, the information is skimpy and insignificant. While
these records show kin relationships within a handful of nuclear families, they do not show
on-going interactions between Duwamish people who belong to various family lines and
who live in various localities. The evidence by itself or combined with other evidence
does not describe a network of interaction tying together the DTO ancestors.

A second problem is that these individual listings are sporadic. Sometimes, four years

¢ For example, Adams, Dixon and Kitsap were not on the 1926 list and have no
descendants in the current petitioner. (DTO PF ATR, 97) “. .. the names of some family lines
who appeared on the 1915 list did not appear at all on the 1926 list. These names included Adams
(6), Alexis (1), Dominic (13), Rogers (12), John (8), and Satiacum (8). . . . They were all families
of people originally from the Lake Fork, Lake Washington, and White, Cedar, and Green River
arcas who later went 1o the Port Madison, Muckleshoot or Puyallup Reservations. Other names
included Young (12), whose family lived in the Puyallup area (Waterman 1920); Kitsap (4), who
were rclatives of the Rogers at Port Madison; and Dixon (8). These names denoted known family
lines of Duwamish descendants who had in many cases enrolled on nearby reservations. Their
absence from the 1925 list further supports a difference in social character between the
organizations listed in 1915 and 1926" (DTO PF ATR, 97).
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elapse between the events memorialized in the documents, which were created over a
nine-year period. These occasional events do not show that these individuals were
meeting regularly which would indicate that they were part of the Indian communities
where the events took place. In fact, some of the baptisms occurring on the same date
were for several children in one family, implying that the family came together especially
for the baptisms or that the family converted to Catholicism at that time. The record does
not demonstrate that the individuals attended the mission church on a regular basis.
Finally, virtually all of the families appearing in these records are known to have lived on
either Port Madison or Muckleshoot reservations by 1911 and not in families that were to
become part of the petitioning group.” Beckham’s analysis of these documents and others
deals with tae period in the 19th century when the existence of a traditional village was
already noted in the PF; he does not deal with the early twentieth century for which
period the PF noted a significant deficiency in evidence.

Linda Dombrowski also utilized transcripts from the Catholic Church records. She
analyzed the records from the Catholic Church 1888-1893.® Like Beckham’s work above,
these records are selected transcriptions of the records of St. George’s School, using “the
1915 list of Duwamish members as a checklist.” All of the entries are in a section entitled
“Puyallup Reservation.” With two exceptions, the individuals mentioned in this document
do not appear to be ancestors of the petitioning group. Most of the entries do have
individuals acting as sponsors who do not appear to be from their own family. However,
the evidence that Duwamish were sponsoring one another is irrelevant here because these
are not the Duwamish who are ancestral to the DTO.

Beckham also looked at the St. George School Archives for the years 1903 and 1939 and
extracted certain records according to the last name of the individual. This list of students
at the St. George’s School is in Appendix A of Steven Dow Beckham’s report (Beckham
1998, Appendix A). He “extracted” these names by checking them against the 1915 list.
Names are listed under each school year between 1909-10 and 1922-23. Many of the
names appear several times over several years. Some 42 separate names appear on the
list. Beside each name is listed either “Puyallup,” “Muckleshoot,” or “Suquamish.” No
one was identified as “Duwamish.”

The BIA has analyzed the names on this list. Of the 42 records in this collection, only six
concern individuals whose names appear on a post-1915 DTO listing of Duwamish
submitted by the petitioner. All of these individuals are children and grandchildren of
Lyman Siddle and Julia John Siddle. Virtually all of the remaining individuals on the

" The petitioner did not include analysis that would show how the individuals listed in
these records are related to the petitioner; therefore, the BIA evaluators performed a simple
analysis by cross-referencing genealogical materials already in the record.

% C. DeDecker and P.F. Hylebos, 1888-1893. Archives, Chancery Office, Seattle, WA.
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document prepared by Beckham appear to be individuals who after 1915 were not
documented as being involved with the 1925 organization or any activities the new
organization may have had after that date. These individuals, including the Siddles, appear
to be closely associated with the Muckleshoot Reservation.

Of these 42 separate names, only two appear on both the 1915 list and the 1926 list,
Walker James, Jr. and Hazel Siddle. Among the parents of these students, only Hazel
Siddle’s father, David, appears on any list of the petitioner’s members subsequent to 1915.
These new documents, therefore, do not illustrate that the petitioner’s ancestors were
involved with the St. George’s School, except in two cases. This petitioner has not shown
that others on this school list had Duwamish ancestry. They most likely were members of
the reservations associated with this school. This document does not show that there was
interaction between the reservation Duwamish and the petitioner’s ancestors.

The new data submitted as part of the DTO response support the original analysis done in
the PF. The records show that those individuals with Duwamish names or connections
who were interacting with the reservation communities at Muckleshoot, Nisqually, or
Puyallup were distir.ct from the individual descendants who later would form the DTO
petitioner. The people on the records of St. George School are not on the post-1915
listings of DTO members. The petitioner says that the St. George School records from
1903 to 1939 show the Siddle family interacting with individuals on the reservations
(Beckham 1998, 41)° In particular, the Siddle family maintained some on-reservations
connections longer than others. Their numbers decreased significantly between 1915 and
1926. The PF stated:

... the Siddles were part of the first category of pioneer marriage
descendants i.e., of second-generation pioneer marriage descendants who
married into Indian families and eventually enrolled on Indian reservations.
Again, only six descendants, or 1.5 percent, are represented in today’s
DTO membership. The Siddles thus differed from second-generation
pioneer marriage descendants who married into other families of pioneer
marriage descendants, or married non-Indians. These latter two types of
descendant categories . . . comprise over 93 percent of today’s DTO
membership (DTO PF ATR, 30).

The petitioner tried to connect some of their other ancestors to the on-going Duwamish
tribe at the turn of the 20th century, but their arguments were not accepted in the PF. For
a specific example, the Anthropology Technical Report (ATR) questioned the petitioner’s
statement that a close relationship existed between Dr. Jack, reputed to have been a late

® These are Stephen Dow Beckham’s notes from Catholic church records, XI. St. George
School, Archives, Chanery Office, Seattle, Washington. He made the excerpts using the “1915
list of Duwamish Indians . . . as a checklist.”
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19th century Duwamish leader, and the child Myron Overacker, who would become a
DTO leader zfter 1926. The PF found that “[b]ecause Doctor Jack died on July 4, 1901,
and Myron Overacker was born July 3, 1889, any relationship would have been brief no
matter how intense.” The ATR states:

Ann Rasmussen (Kennum), a pioneer marriage descendant, and member of
today’s petitioning group, maintained that the Shaman Dr. Jack was her
great uncle, and that her father Myron Tuttle Overacker, ‘had a great love
for Dr. Jack,” and used to see him ‘when he . . . was small.”. . . Further
information about interaction between Dr. Jack and those around him
would be very important in characterizing social and community life among
pioneer marriage descendants and Lake Fork residents (DTO PF ATR, 51).

Neither BAK. interviews nor documentary research done after the petition was placed on
active consideration had revealed evidence about such relationships, if any existed. At the
same time, these materials show that, while Myron Tuttle Overacker may have interacted
with reservation Indians and with Dr. Jack until his death, evidence does not show that
Overacker’s children, such as Ann Rasmussen, continued interacting with them.

In response, the petitioner submitted an anonymous, unsigned letter, It incidentally asks:
“Please tell me how is doctor Jack and his neffew [sic]” (Anonymous ca. 1898-1901).
This letter is not signed and the salutation reads “dear cousin.” No information on the
letter indicates who wrote this letter or when it was written. It may only be said that it
was probably written before 1901, the time of Dr. Jack’s death.

The petitionier’s researcher argues that this letter was found among the Overacker family
papers, which indicates that it was written by an Overacker to a cousin about their
kinsman Charlie Hamilton. The petitioner’s researcher interprets this letter to show that a
mutually influential relationship existed between Dr. Jack and the Overackers during this
period (Beckham 1998, 54). This single piece of evidence is neither dated nor signed,
which diminishes its value as evidence. The “cousin” to whom it is written is also not
identified. Nevertheless, even if everything the researcher says about it were accurate, the
letter’s contents still would be too limited to indicate that the Overackers were involved in
an on-going significant social or political relationship with Dr. Jack in the late 1890's much
less during the 20th century.

The PF found that the census returns for 1910 and 1920 did not show any Indian
settlements remaining in the White and Green River area. The PF cited other evidence to
support this contention, including reservation censuses which showed that many Indians
from these traditional settlements were listed on the Indian census rolls of these
reservations during the last quarter of the 19th century. Duwamish had generally moved
to, or affiliated with, the Port Madison Reservation after 1856, the Lummi and
Muckleshoot Reservations after 1857, and the Puyallup Reservation during the 1880's and
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1890's. According to the 1900 Federal census, about half the petitioner’s Duwamish
ancestors lived in a number of different precincts in which only one or two households
contained Duwamish ancestors of the petitioner. In 1919, Roblin’s survey found the off-
reservation Duwam:sh descendants living throughout the Puget Sound region with 27
different Post Office addresses. Thus, the PF found that these three reliable sources
(Indian census, Federal census, and Roblin report) showed the petitioner’s ancestors were
widely dispersed and that geographical data does not demonstrate that the petitioner meets
criterion (b). Other data would have to be submitted.

This petitioner disputes these findings and continues to argue that after 1855 their
members moved throughout their aboriginal area and lived in small groups, while
maintaining their connections to each other (Beckham 1998, 58). In support of their
arguments, the petitioner submitted what at first appears to be abstracts of the 1910 U S.
census. However, these are neither abstracts nor transcriptions. They are charts of
information extracted from the 1910 census and other information has been added in some
entries, compiled by Stephen Beckham. It shows various category headings of : “Name,
Sex, Race, Age, Status and Notes” (Beckham 1998, Appendix C). Beckham has listed
people with names he believes to be Duwamish from the 1910 Federal Census. He states,
“The names are listed alphabetically with notes confirming relationships to others
enumerated in this census” (Beckham 1998, Appendix C).

The BIA’s evaluation of this compilation/chart shows that virtually everyone on it was
living only with verv close relatives of their own family line, e.g. in nuclear families. The
data does not show interactions across family lines. In addition, the 21 families lived in 16
separate enumeraticn districts. No more than two families lived in any one enumeration
district. Thus, this data does not show individuals interacting across family lines, and it
corroborates the PF’s conclusions that the petitioner’s ancestors were scattered
throughout western Washington. According to the chart, the distribution of the
individual ancestors on the census indicates first, that unrelated families were not living
near one another in groups or settlements, and second, that there were no distinct off-
reservation communities of Duwamish at this time.

The petitioner’s response includes a transcription of a 1976 tape recording of Henry
Moses and Myron Overacker discussing what they remember of earlier times and what
their parents told them (Exhibit 40). Much of the discussion concerns the first decades of
the 20th century. None of the activities discussed indicate that there was an ongoing
Duwamish community at Renton either historically or at the time of the interview. Talking
to one another, they tried to make sense in the interview of what they had heard orally
about events that happened before their lifetimes or when they were very young. When
they discussed Dr. Jack, they referred to newspaper articles about him, rather than
personal experiences. The taped discussion does not provide new evidence after 1917 for
evaluation under criterion 83.7(b).
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In 1919, Indian Agent Charles Roblin created a list or schedule of unenrolled Indians in
western Wezshington who could trace their ancestry to treaty tribes. (See discussion in
DTO PF GTR, 36, and in this report under criterion 83.7(a)). It included some individuals
with Duwamish ancestry. While Roblin’s evidence about Duwamish descendants is
valuable, his report identified individuals rather than a tribal entity. The petitioner
generally holds that those identified as having Duwamish ancestry on the Roblin Roll were
part of an off-reservation Duwamish entity. With regard to the Roblin Roll, Tollefson
stated that:

Roblin’s data included some four thousand landless Indians from forty
tribes averaging approximately 13% full-bloods per tribe . . . 36% for the
Duvvamish, almost three times the average for the forty tribes in the

survey. . . . The Roblin blood quantum data provide an objective means for
determining which groups were affiliating with Indian tribes. If the
Duwarnish and Snoqualmie were merely descendants of Indian women who
married white pioneers, then the Roblin roll would have shown them to
possess only one-eighth Indian blood quantum levels in 1919 some three
generations after the 1850's pioneers arrived (Tollefson 1992, 109).

The BIA’s analysis indicates that some 33 percent of living individuals on Roblin’s list of
unenrolled Duwamish are listed as “full-bloods.” However for these statistics to fully
respond to the PF, these individuals must be connected to the 1926 DTO. The petitioner
made no attempt to indicate which of the individuals are connected to the DTO. A BIA
analysis found that only a quarter of the 33 percent appear on the 1926 DTO list. Thus 8
percent of the individuals listed by Roblin are “full-blood” and actually connect to the
DTO.

In addition, some of the individuals listed as “full-blood” by Roblin are elderly heads of a
family line whose members had not married into Indian society for three generations.
(Two of the listed individuals are actually deceased.) The full blood status of these elders
therefore only indicates that their parents were interacting with other Indians at the birth
of their child, in these cases in the mid-19th century. The 1919 presence of high-blood
elderly individuals who themselves and whose descendants have continuously married
outside of Indian society does not demonstrate a continuous interaction with other
Indians. Most of the marriages producing full-blood off-spring who appear on the 1926
list took place in the 19th century. One marriage may have occurred as late as 1911.
Thus, the irteraction on which these marriages are based occurred before 1900. The issue
raised in the PF for the DTO is after that date. Therefore, other evidence would be
required to show that a predominant proportion of the listed individuals continued to
interact in & tribal environment well into the 20th century, and certainly past 1926.
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2. Can the petitioner show continuity between the entities associated with the 1915 and
1926 lists of Duwamish?

The petitioner submitted in response “Duwamish Indians Found in Fourteenth Census and
on 1915 and 1927-34 Lists,” a chart created by Stephen Dow Beckham (Beckham 1998,
Appendix D). It shows some people who were enumerated on the 1920 Federal Census.
Beckham states that he has extracted names of individuals reputed to be Duwamish who
“appeared on special Indian Schedules; others appeared on the regular population
schedules.”'® Beckham’s stated purpose in submitting this material is to “confirm|[]
relationships to others enumerated in this census.”

Beckham lists some 28 households where individuals he identifies as Duwamish were
living. It does not appear that these households necessarily have descendents in the DTO,
although some do. To “confirm relationships with other individuals,” he lists all the
individuals; in a columnn after each name, he lists with whom they appear on the census. In

- virtually every case, the individuals are shown with their nuclear families. Eleven
households are shown at Port Madison in Kitsap County, and the remaining 27 households
are dispersed in 20 other enumeration districts in many counties. Only four of these
districts have more than a single household in them. These include Muckleshoot (3
households), Skokomish (2 households), Lake Sammamish, where some Snoqualmie were
living (2 households), and the Sackman logging camp (2 households). This evidence does
not demonstrate tribal relations maintained across family lines. In fact, even if some of
these individuals are related to DTO, the distribution corroborates the conclusion of the
PF that the petitioner’s ancestors lived widely dispersed and that geographical distribution
alone did not provide the evidence needed to demonstrate that the petitioner meets the
requirements of criterion 83.7(b).

The petitioner submitted another chart created by Beckham entitled, “People not on 1915
or 1927-34 Lists but Appearing to be Connected to Those Who were so Listed.” Thisis a
listing of 35 individuals “not on any lists but appearing to be connected to individuals who
are.” Beckham’s stated purpose in submitting this material is to “confirm(] relationships to
others enumerated in this census.” However, he does not denote exact relationships
between these individuals on the census and individuals on the 1915 and 1927-34 lists,
stating only that the names appear to be connected. BIA research shows that for the
households Beckham lists, all but two of the individuals and the people to whom they are
connected are first degree relatives, meaning they are siblings, parents, and children. The
evaluation assumes that these individuals -- especially if they are inhabiting a household --

19 There are no special Indian schedules for the year 1920, although the 1900 and 1910
Federal Censuses had special schedules for “Indians, living on reservations or in tribal relations,
and also by the enumerators in certain counties containing a considerable number of Indians™
(Census Bureau 1910).
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are interacting by virtue of their close relationships; however, because no relationship
across family lines are shown, either to individuals on the 1915 and 1927-34 lists, the
evidence does not meet the requirements of criterion (b). The remaining two households
are characterized by grandparent/grandchild relationships, also very close lineal kin.

3. Does the petitioner meet the requirement for community since 1925 and in the
modern-day?

Neither petition materials nor BIA research provide sufficient evidence of social
interaction among members which is indicative of the existence of a community at any
time since 1925. The petitioner’s ancestors, primarily descendants of marriages between
Duwamish Indians and pioneer settlers, had little or no interaction either with the Indians
of the historical Duwamish settlements or with those Duwamish who moved to
reservations.

The petitioner submitted a selection of papers, mostly created in the late 1930's, pertaining
to Kitty Bigelow’s inheritance of Dr. Jack’s homestead. Dr. Jack died at the turn of the
20th century. The petitioner claims that these papers demonstrate that the petitioner had a
relationship ‘with Dr. Jack. The record actually shows that the individuals claiming the
homestead and the direct descendants of Dr. Jack were not in close contact with one
another. Thz heirs were unaware of events concerning the homestead, and their collateral
relatives did not know the whereabouts of the heirs. The BIA correspondence also
indicates that the Overackers were not cooperative with the agency in locating the heirs.

A letter of 1939 describes the events. It states:

Jack Bigelow, Dr. Jack or Leo E. Taku, received a Homestead Certificate
on Government Lots 9 and 10, of Section 24, Township 23, North, Range
5 E.-W.M. of King County, State of Washington under the Act of Congress
of July 4%, 1884. The restricted Homestead patent was dated August 18%,
1897, but was not filed for record until July 27, 1927, when it was
determined that Kitty Bigelow was the descendant’s only heir (Bogle,
Bogle & Gates 1/31/1939).

An earlier letter written from the Tulalip Agency to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs
(COIA) in 1924 indicates that even Dr. Jack’s association with the Duwamish at the turn
of the century was in doubt at the agency by 1924. This letter is in response to a letter
that requested:

... that the Office advise whether or not a certificate of competency was
ever issued [on Dr. Jack]. It appears that [Dr. Jack] was of the Black
River tribe, but had severed all tribal relations. His name was signed by
mark on the application. . . . [I]t appears that this land has passed out of
the hands of the Indian allottee and information is being obtained upon the
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request of his niece, Mrs. Edward Moses (Dickens 6/24/1924).

In a 1935 letter, Nellie Tuttle Overacker wrote to Indian Agent O. C. Upchurch,
Superintendent of the Tulalip Indian Agency, and told him that the Indian office should
have nothing to do with Dr. Jack’s land probate:

I do not know what you are trying to do . . . Jack Bigelow homesteaded
that track of land. His dealings was at the Land Office at Olympia

Wash. . . . lived on it for 5 years and proved up on it. . . . He never had
any thing tc do with any Indian Agency or was it allotted to him by them.
When he pass [sic] on, his Widow Kittie probated it according to the Laws
of the State. It is on record at the Court House (Overacker 11/29/1935).

First, the plain language of this letter clearly says that Dr. Jack did not deal with the Indian
office in land matters. Second, this letter does not add new information to the actual
interactions between the Overackers and Dr. Jack during his lifetime. Third, as a letter
concerning the inheritance of property, it only concerns individuals in a single family line
and does not contribute new information about interactions and connections which cross
family lines.

In response, Commissioner John Collier told agent O. C. Upchurch to settle the matter,
writing a month later “it appears that the trust period extends to 1947, and he stated that
he wanted this issue settled through a hearing. He asked Upchurch to check whether state
taxes have been paid on the property (Collier 12/23/1935). This appears to be a purely
administrative matter from the point of view of the BIA, whose agents were primarily
concerned with whether or not the state has been improperly administrating a trust
property, and what steps should be taken to rectify this jurisdictional mistake. Concerning
the information in the letter about family relationships, this correspondence, like earlier
letters, indicated that the heirs of Dr. Jack had lost contact with one another (Upchurch
1/4/1936).

Several letters from 1939 again discuss Dr. Jack’s trust lands (Melzner 2/28/1939; Bogle,
Bogle & Gates 1/31/1939). The gist of the letters is that although the state court was in
error in making a decision about Dr. Jack’s land, the BIA would be inclined to uphold that
decision even if the actual heirs were located because it is so long after the original
mistake. Nevertheless, there is a request that the heirship determination read “heirs of
Jack Bigelow,” rather than a specific individual’s name so that if the actual heirs were
located, they would not have any judicial impediment to claiming their property.

The lack of clarity, the long period that elapsed after his death before heirs sought to
clarify the inheritance, and the confusion about their kin relationships does not support the

contention that the individuals involved were close socially. These letters concern an
individua!l allotment and do not demonstrate tribal relations or interactions outside a family
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line. This document does not provide evidence that the petitioner meets 83.7(b).

The petitioner submitted a November 15, 1935, letter written to Myron T. Overacker
which they claim confirms a wide set of familial and tribal connections. The letter was
typed with a Tulalip Indian Agency return address, but signed by “Effie.” A hand notation
attributes this letter to an Overacker author, although the text itself does not identify the
author “Effie” by surname, by relationship to addressee Myron Overacker, or by tribal
affiliation.

The letter makes the following statements about other people: “My daddy and Uncle are
over here the other day,” “how is lil Ann,” and “Emily Allick is staying with mom. She
lost her son not very long ago. He just graduated from Publif [sic] High School at
Coupeville. 1magine it broke her up pretty much” (Overacker 11/15/1935). Of these, “Lil
Ann” and “Emily Allick” likely refer to Duwamish members, namely, Myron’s six-year-old
daughter Anna Overacker, and Emily (Percival) Kittle/Allick, respectively. However, the
unclear authcrship reduces the usefulness of this document as evidence. This single letter
does not derr.onstrate wide-ranging connections or significant interaction between the
Overackers and other Duwamish.

The petitioner also submitted a letter from 1939. This letter, written by M.D. Sackman to
Myron Overacker, includes an attachment entitled “Duwamish Indian enrollment under
Point Elliot Treaty.” The letter states, “my friend I have copied the enrollment of the
Duwamish Tribe of American Indians for your convenience as a councilman of said

Tribe. . . .” (Sackman 8/6/1939). However, the attachment is not a roll in the sense that it
is maintained with individuals being added and others noted as deceased. It appears to be
a hand-written copy of the 1927-34 list. This document does not reflect on-going activity
between 1927 and 1939. In fact, it seems to imply that little if any activity concerning
enrollment had occurred during those years.

According to the Federal Register Notice for the Duwamish PF, “Since 1925, the social
activities of the petitioner’s members with other members, outside the organization’s
annual meetings, took place within their own extended families, but not with members
outside their own family lines” (61 F.R. 33763). The petitioner submitted an article by
their researcher that states that some 63 percent of individuals had “contact with one or
two Duwamish households (outside their treaty families) in the past ten years” (Tollefson
1996b, 134). This describes a situation of very little, if any, contact. The 63 percent
apparently includes people who have had only a single contact in ten years, perhaps in a
formal meeting or during a telephone call possibly initiated by the petitioner’s governing
body. This is not the extent and type of regular, significant social contact and interaction,
which would show that the petitioner forms a community.
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4. The PF found that besides annual meetings that occurred during their childhoods in
the 1940's and 1950, the only other activities recalled by today's members of the
petitioner were shared gift giving, cooperative hunting, and summertime berry picking.

Tollefson’s 1992 article, “The Political Survival of Landless Puget Sound Indians,” states
that David Fowler made an annual trek to Dewatto (where his grandfather had lived) to
“get their winter supply of salmon and venison” in the mid-1930's. He continues: “Many
others came also from Renton, Seattle, and Tracyton. They stayed with Fowler hosts”
(Tollefson 1992, 100-102). The Sackmans in Tracyton are also mentioned in Tollefson’s
article, but no description of their interaction with any Fowlers is given. The described
contacts were limited to other family members. Tollefson does not provide numerous
examples of these coritacts or cite specific instances. Autumn hunting and fishing by
members of a single family line (the Fowlers) is not evidence of tribal activity and does not
demonstrate interaction widely distributed among the tribal members or across family
lines. No other familv lines are mentioned by name. Therefore, the DTO response does

- not provide new evidence to refute the PF that interactions were primarily within single
family lines. This evidence is not sufficient to demonstrate community.

The same article states that 79 percent of respondents (N=175) said that they had
participated in tribal raeetings, Indian spiritual practices, bingo, bone games, powwows,
Indian naming, canoe races, conferences, potlatches, and other gatherings (Tollefson
1996b, 135). There are many methodological problems in dealing with this statement to
demonstrate that the DTQO meets criterion 83.7(b). The article does not detail when these
activities occurred or imply the ages of the interviewees. What the petitioner must show is
that the “bingo, bone games, powwows, Indian naming, canoe races,” and other activities
were organized as group activities of the petitioner and that these activities were
significant in people’s lives, not merely symbolic statements about one’s heritage. This
evidence was not provided.

In western Washington, some petitioners have shown that they participate in a Puget
Sound Indian social network and this participation has been accepted in part as evidence
to meet criterion 83.7(b). The petitioner did not submit evidence that indicated that the
DTO or sub-groupings within that organization put on activities such as these (with the
exception of annual meetings) either formally or informally, or that members were
participating in a regional Indian network. From other contexts, such as oral histories and
materials submitted for the DTO PF, DTO members’ participation in these kinds of
activities were generally rare and organized by people who were not members of the DTO
petitioner and attended by only a few DTO members. The scattered references to
individual DTO members attending “traditional” events, such as those defined here, would
be significantly strengthened as evidence if it were also shown that a majority of the
petitioner’s members interacted in significant ways with one another at any event, whether
traditional or non-traditional.
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5. Because there have been no marriages between members of the families that make up
the present mzmbership _for many generations, the members of the Duwamish Tribal
Organization do not have close kinship ties with each other.

Under the regulations, no specific blood quantum is required of a petitioner’s members.
However, in petition cases with high rates of in-group marriage, meaning that the
petitioner’s members frequently marry one another, the BIA has assumed that the
petitioner meets the requirements for community, criterion 83.7(b), without requesting
other evidence. The Duwamish PF did not find that, generally, there had been marriages
between ancestors of DTO members since the mid-1800's; therefore, marriage patterns
could not be used as evidence to meet the requirement of community, criterion 83.7(b).
Other evidence would have to be presented to meet criterion 83.7(b).

The petitioner’s anthropologist refers to a 1986 survey he did of 54 adults, which he says
demonstrated their shared “Duwamish identity” (Tollefson 1995b, 91). He also says that
he found that 69 percent have 1/8 Duwamish descent and “are eligible for membership in
federally recognized tribes with reservation facilities and federal subsidies.” Even if these
assertions were accurate, they donot demonstrate the level of interaction within the group
which is necessary to document community under the regulations. This survey has many
methodological flaws. The “shared symbols” to which he refers are “essentialized”
symbols and too general to be meaningful evidence for the community criterion 83.7(b).
For example, questions asked whether the respondent cared about the environment and
how much and how often he ate salmon. Individuals would be hard pressed not to intuit
the “correct” meaning or the “typically Indian” answer. None of these expected answers
would be distinctly Duwamish.

Under the meaning of the regulations, shared identity which results from shared, long-term
and significant interactions at a level to meet criterion 83.7(b) would be specific and
systematic and would involve specific cultural inventories such as kinship systems, detailed
religious practices, ceremonies, languages, etc. In order to clarify the reasoning behind
the BIA’s weighing of the petitioner’s statements as evidence for criterion (b), community,
consider the petitioner’s amorphous claims concerning salmon. In a traditional
community, shared identity around the taking of salmon would possibly be manifested by
activities such as first fish ceremonies, spiritual requirements for fishing, special practices
about how one speaks of salmon, such as taboos in presenting its image or using its name
in some comntexts, clans associated with salmon, arts and dances in honor of salmon,
reciprocal sharing of salmon and other foodstuffs, knowledge of taking, storing and
serving salmon that are specific to the group and learned and practiced in group contexts.

In modern contexts, shared identity around taking salmon may include tribally organized
fishing ventures, organized lobbying for fishing rights and laws, a tribal salmon “feed”
after the fishing season ends, a salmon component to the tribal food bank maintained to
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help indigent members, a Christian ceremony blessing the tribal fleet, a widespread custom
of taking salmon broth to sick persons including non-relatives because it is considered
necessary to good health, and other practices. None of these kinds of activities were
revealed in Tollefson’s survey. Enjoying salmon at home on a monthly or even weekly
basis does not demorstrate a special shared tribal identity and does not distinguish the
petitioner from most inhabitants of the Pacific Northwest of any heritage.

Another of the petitioner’s researchers, Michael Roe, makes statements based on a survey
which he says shows a number of “cultural values” which include attitudes such as

- “commitment to Duwarmush way of life, attendance at Duwamish gatherings, skin color,
preference for Indian food” (Roe 1998, 23). He arranges them in a hierarchy according to
the number of positive answers each category received to determine what topic or issue
statements are most widely accepted by the people being surveyed. He compares the
responses from 1983 and from 1996 and finds “although there were slight drops in
magnitude of the mean ratings between the 1987 and 1996 surveys, the order of the
hierarchies remained quite similar.” The respondents are not named and no data are
available to evaluate the accuracy of Roe’s evaluations. Even if it were known who the
respondents were and how the sample was taken, the responses would not reveal
significant information about the petitioner relating to criterion 83.7(b). This is because
most of the survey questions are overly general and reveal little about a specific Duwamish
community.

The survey responses do not provide evidence for the existence of a distinct community.
For example, “attendance at Duwamish gatherings” was rated next to last in the hierarchy
of importance. Yet, “passing Duwamish Culture to the next generation” was rated highly.
This would seem to suggest that Duwamish culture is viewed by the few individuals who
were surveyed as an individual or familial belief system rather than a shared set of beliefs,
activities, and interactions preserved in a group context. Finally, this evidence deals
primarily with self declarations of what people believe and not actual evidence about their
activities, which is necessary to document criterion (b).

6. The petitioner’s members do not participate either as individuals or as a group in any
cultural activities that indicate the maintenance of a social organization separate from
the surrounding population.

The petitioner’s researcher questioned “six council members and two executive officers”
about whether they would maintain a requirement of Duwamish ancestry for membership.
Because they answerezd yes, he believes this shows “a rigid descent boundary” (Tollefson
1995b, 109-110). That eight individuals share conclusions concemning a requirement of
descent does not in itself rise to the standard of maintaining a distinct community under
the regulations.

Maintaining a boundary under criterion 83.7(b) refers to maintenance of an actual social
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boundary. Social boundaries at a level acceptable to demonstrate 83.7(b) would be based
on documentation of activities which indicate that individual members actually interact
with other rnembers often or in significant ways which are different from the way they
interact with non-members, regardless of the group’s membership requirements. Such
verbal or constitutional assertions by petitioners that they would maintain descent
boundaries :n the future do not provide evidence that the petitioner actually maintains
behaviorally defined social boundaries in the present or did so historically under 83.7(b).

7. The petition documentation includes references to the petitioner'’s participation, as an
organization, in commemorative events and pow-wows. Participation by the
organization's leadership in pow-wows and other commemorative events is not evidence
of the mainienance of internal social cohesion.

The petitiorer’s researcher Michael Roe submitted a three-part study. Study I extracts
information from interviews with 14 present or former council members and revamps it
into a survey format (Roe 1998, 11-12). Data on self-identification as Duwamish, limited
to 14 council members, can not be viewed as typical or representative of the membership
as a whole. Roe states that the 14 participants described “Duwamish cultural activities in
which they participated.” The cultural practices included:

Powwows, Potlatches, Smoke house ceremonies, Indian storytelling,
Carving, Indian dancing, making baskets, Making drums, Making beaded
jewelry, Performing Indian music, Indian ceremonial dress, Paddling
dugout canoe, fishing and clamming, Hunting, Berry Picking, Preparing
Indian food (fry bread, game, salmon) (Roe 1998, 11-13).

Eight of the 14 named “cultural practices” were mentioned by three or fewer individuals;,
five practices were mentioned by five or six individuals; three were mentioned by seven or
more individuals. Among the most popular responses were preparing Indian food, berry
picking, fishing and clamming, all activities also popular among non-Indians in this part of
the country, and activities often performed alone or with family.

Individual rituals which follow a distinct cultural pattern, even those considered to be
“Indian,” when learned, performed or undertaken individually rather than as a group do
not on their face provide evidence that the individuals are part of a community which
practices these activities in a community context, which is significant in showing that the
petitioner meets criterion 83.7(b). The Snoqualmie participation in Shaker religious
practices indicated that they were involved in a regional cultural network. Other
petitioners have shown distinct cultural patterns practiced within an institution associated
with their group (the Mohegan Church or the Jena Choctaw language). In other
acknowledgment cases, activities which may not be viewed by the general public as
“Indian” (e.;g., Christian church socials, controlling the taxes in a New England township,
socializing in segregated dance halls, and church cemetery clean-ups) have been accepted
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as evidence under 8:.7(b), when the petitioner demonstrated that a representative number
of members organized and attended these activities, and considered them to be significant
to their cultural expression. Showing that a group of individuals also share cultural beliefs
that are distinct and specific would support a finding for the petitioner under 83.7(b).
Roe’s sample of 14 individuals who are all council members is not representative of the
membership in general and the data do not indicate that these activities were undertaken as
a tribe.

On a related topic and using a similar methodology and the same data source, Roe notes
that '

. seven of the respondents noted their participation in elements of
American Indian spirituality. These elements included living in harmony
with all God's creation (i.e., all my relatives), power of spirit creatures (see
Tollefson, 1987, pp. 66- 91) and many different types of traditional
ceremonies. The Hansen (1987) survey reported that 16.7% of
respondents participated in traditional Indian ceremonies or Pow-wows.
No other Hansen data were relevant to this category (Roe 1998, 22).

Seven individuals is a very small sample, and the results can not reveal anything about the
participation of the IDTO membership in Native American religious ceremonies. Even for
this group, however, participation was minimal. One person had been to a smokehouse
ceremony, and five had attended potlatches. Roe appears to be discussing in his analysis
general values often attributed to Indians such as “living in harmony with all God’s
creation,” a sentiment in line with the beliefs of Hindus, Buddhists, Franciscans, many
other Indians as well as non-Indians, depending on one’s definition of “god.”

Participation in religious institutions, whether derived from Native American or Christian
traditions,'’ have been accepted as evidence under criterion 83.7(b) if a representative
distribution of members of the petitioning group interact with one another in a distinct
institution which is predominantly under the control of the petitioners. An example is the
tribally controlled Congregational church of the Mohegan in Connecticut. The DTO PF
Summary under the Criteria explained:

The petition documentation includes references to the petitioner’s
participation, as an organization, in commemorative events and pow-wows.
Participation in public events such as these, however, does not function as
more than merely symbolic identification of the group or organization as
Indian. It is not evidence in itself of actual differences in cultural beliefs or
social organization. Further, participation has been only by a few

' Christianity just happens to have characterized the religion of most petitioners for
acknowledgment. Any religious tradition is accepted under the regulations.
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individual officers of the organization. Thus, participation by the
organization’s leadership in pow-wow and other commemorative events is
not evidence of the maintenance of internal social cohesion (DTO PF
Summary, 10).

The repeated arguments, now supported by a limited collection of general survey results,
do not provide evidence that a substantial portion of petitioning group’s members
participate in shared and distinctive activities.

8. Participation in Duwamish revitalization projects is limited to a single family line.
The organization’s wider membership is not involved. Consequently, the examples of
revitalization projects do not demonstrate that the Duwamish membership as a whole is
culturally distinct from non-Indians.

The PF stated:

Members of the petitioner reported involvement as individuals in efforts at
revitalization of Duwamish culture. Such involvement could indicate that
members had continuing relationships with Indians of the region that
distinguishes them from others living in a region. Duwamish Tribal
Organization members cited examples of learning the Salish language and
participating in one name-giving ceremony and in canoe building projects.
However, participation in all these activities was limited to only three or
four individuals. All of these individuals are from a single family line and
are a part of the orgamzation’s leadership. There is no indication of
involvement by the wider membership. Consequently, these examples do
not demonstrate that the Duwamish membership as a whole is culturally
distinct from non-Indians (DTO PF Summary, 11).

The petitioner’s response again focuses entirely on how certain leaders felt strongly about
passing on Duwamish history and culture to future generations, rather than on what
actions they took to accomplish that goal. Roe points out that “[o]nly its [the petitioner’s)
role in preserving the tribe’s culture and heritage received more than 50%
acknowledgment by the participants” (Roe 1998). The belief that preserving heritage is
important by more than 50 percent of the survey sample is not good evidence unless this
belief is made real by the activities of the petitioner’s members or constituents or unless it
is distinct and specific and distinguishes DTO beliefs from others. Few members are
actually involved in heritage activities, and the activities that a few individuals from a
single family line undertake are not significant in the lives of most DTO members.
Nondescript beliefs about the importance of heritage can not substitute for actually
preserving heritage, overseeing the steps that others, including named leaders, take to
preserve heritage, or participating oneself in projects that preserve heritage.
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9. There is no evidence of the existence of a social core among the petitioner s current
members, either as a network of interacting individuals and families or a geographically-
defined community. ‘

The Federal Register notice for the PF stated:

The petitioner’s current members do not maintain a community that is
distinct from the surrounding non-Indian population. No geographical area
of concentrated settlement provides them with a social core. The group’s
geographical dispersion is consistent with other evidence showing the
members do not maintain, and have not maintained significant social
contact with each other (61 F.R. 33763).

Roe discusses theory, starting with Ferdinand Tonnies’ “community and society”
dichotomy. He says that Tonnies’ dependence on “territorially based interaction
represents only one pattern of community.” Roe adopts Bender’s definition of
community:

... a network of social relations marked by mutuality and emotional bonds;
which include a limited number of people in restricted social space or
network, who have mutual access to one another, who share
understandings and sense of obligation, and who also may find themselves
in conflict with one another at times. . . . [such a network] does not require
dwelling in close proximity to one another (Roe 1998, 32).

This definition of community is very close to the concept of community promulgated by
the regulations, which is the legal basis of acknowledgment evaluations. Precedent ih the
interpretation of the regulations has not required that members live in “close proximity to
one another.” Where they do live in close proximity (Poarch Creek or Jena Choctaw),
meaning a “village like setting” or “exclusive neighborhood,” the BIA evaluators have
been able to assume that interaction has existed without requiring other evidence. This
practice was codified in the revised regulations of 1994 at 25 C.F.R. 83.7(b)(2)(i)."

It must be stressed, however, that such a geographical distribution is not required, and
petitioners whose members do not live in geographical proximity may demonstrate that
they meet criterion (b) for community utilizing other evidence such as interaction, social
networks, conflict and resolution of conflict, cooperative relationships, and similar
activities which are close to those described by Bender. Where members are widely

12 The revised regulations read: “More than 50 percent of the members reside in a
geographical area exclusively or almost exclusively composed of members of the group, and the
balance of the group maintains consistent interaction with some members of the community.”
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dispersed and have been dispersed for generations, the BIA has required other kinds of
significant evidence that the members are actually interacting in a community. Roe writes
as if to imply that the BIA requires the members to live in close proximity, which is
inaccurate. In this case, Roe’s general theoretical point is in agreement with the
theoretical basis of the regulations concerning community. The petitioner has not
submitted evidence, whether geographical in nature or non-geographical in nature, which
demonstrates that the petitioner maintains networks, resolves conflicts or even has
conflicts, mraintains reciprocal obligations incorporating the membership, or shares other
activities at levels sufficient to meet the regulations.

The Summary under the Criteria for the PF found that:

.. . activities recalled by today’s members . . . shared gift giving,
cooperative hunting, and summertime berry picking. . . . took place . . .
among brothers, sisters, aunts, uncles, nieces, and nephews, not among
mernbers outside of their own extended families. Today’s members did not
have contact with other members outside their own extended families until
they were adults, and then only in the restricted setting of Duwamish Tribal
organization meetings (DTO PF Summary, 9).

Micheal Roe’s report appears to relate to criterion (b), even though it was submitted
under criterion (¢). According to Roe, “Social Networks . . . [c]learly the dominant social
networks described by these participants were within their extended Duwamish families”
(Roe 1998, 27). This position agrees with the PF. He launches the following theoretical
discussion:

.. . the noted social scholar Robert Nisbet characterized the archetype of
comrnunity to be the family (e.g. Nisbet, 1953). In the case of the
Duwamish, this is not simply a useful metaphor for their social
relazionships, it is also an accurate concrete description of their social
relationships, family ties permeate the social world of the Duwamish, such
as funerals and weddings, and many informally socialize with Duwamish
who are family. Most came to know of their Duwamish roots and cultural
heritage through teaching and socialization within the family context (Roe
1998, 33).

There are factual and conceptual problems with Roe’s statements. First, evidence to
support his picture of active family or kinship based interactions “that permeate the social
world of the Duwamish” beyond their own family lines has not been submitted. Second,
the type of kin-based interactions he describes are typical of human behavior everywhere
and do not distinguish tribal groups from others. Most Americans interact with other
family members, meaning individuals within limited lineage groupings (groups of
individuals who descend from sets of grandparents or great-grandparents). For kinship
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interactions to be useful evidence under 83.7(b), they must connect individuals from a
number of different family lines over many generations. In this tribal context, crisscrossing
connections link the entire membership and generate over time a dense network of ties and
obligations. Some people may be peripheral to the group while others form a close knit
core or even several inter-related cores. These types of kin-based networks and related
interactions are acceptable evidence for community under §83.7(b), although they are not
required if other evidence is available to show that significant numbers of the petitioner’s
members interact in other ways which do not rely on kinship ties. However, this petitioner
presents as evidence for §83.7(b) only the everyday interactions of individuals in their own
families which does not show that a community exists encompassing the petitioner’s
membership as whole.

Family relationships, such as those described by the petitioner’s researchers, may provide
supporting evidence for criteria 83.7(b) or 83.7(c) only if such relationships occur in a
tribe where interaction is also characterized by formal and informal interactions across
family lines or wherz such interactions are demonstrated to influence and shape larger
group processes.

Informal social interactions are suggested by an anecdote concerning an elderly woman
who was brought fish by other Duwamish when she was ill. This anecdote is in the
petitioner’s response. The context of the narrative indicates that the individuals involved
were old when the rarrator was a child, placing the events in the early 20th century. No
names or other details are given in the report (DTO 1998, 16-17). This example is not
well documented, tte individuals involved are not named, and the story content itself tends
to imply that the individual discussing the events was related to other Duwamish only
through elderly individuals who died early in the 20th century. This singular example of
an informal tribal welfare effort may be an example of the kind of activity which would be
evidence to meet criteria 83.7(b) or 83.7(c) had they been typical of relationships between
group members and had they continuously occurred into the present-day. However, the
data are limited. The data available do not demonstrate that such interactions were
characteristic of interactions for a predominant proportion of the membership and whether
these kinds of inforraal activities occurred in the present as well as a century ago.

The petitioner’s researcher Roe postulated that the Duwamish interacted with other
Indians:

Beyond the Duwamish tribe, seven participants described significant
relationships to other Indian peoples, such as the Suquamish, Snohomish,
Muckleshoot, and Puyallup. These connections often were through
relatives or friends. Also, seven respondents described participation in pan-
Indian events, such as Pow-wows (Roe 1998, 17).

The only evidence he gave for this opinion was to assert that a small number (7 of 390) of
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the petitioner’s members had significant interactions with other Indians, although he
offered no clear definition of what a “significant” interaction would be and who exactly
was involved in the interaction. This is insufficient evidence to change the PF that

[t]here is . . . no evidence that the petitioner’s members from 1925 to the
present have interacted with reservation Indians, attended potlatches, or
visited reservations. The only exception is when, in the past as children,
they accompanied their parents and grandparents (DTO PF Summary, 9).

The BIA’s analysis showed that a small group of six or seven individuals, representing
only one farnily line, was primarily involved in these kinds of activities. In the Snoqualmie
and some Michigan petitioner’s FDs, the BIA evaluation has accepted as evidence under
83.7(b) patterns of interactions with other Indian tribes by the petitioner. This would
include marriage networks, visiting networks, and other patterns of relationships which
joined the petitioner’s members in significant and widespread patterns of interaction with
other tribes and regional tribal networks. Self proclamations of having Indian friends does
not rise to the level of evidence used in these precedent cases. The activities of a
smattering of individuals from one family does not provide sufficient evidence that the
petitioner meets the requirements of 83.7(b).

10. Miscelianeous [ssues

The Whittlesey narrative states that the Federal census counts the Duwamish as Indians in
1990 (DTO 1998, 16). The 1990 Federal census based Indian identification on self-
reporting which is not acceptable evidence under the regulations. This self-identification is
comparable 10 individual Duwamish identifying themselves as Duwamish on the
membership list and other documents, which were already considered during the PF. In
addition, the 1990 census manuscript schedules of individual forms will not be available
until 72 years after it was taken, and as a result the underlying data regarding named
individuals are not available for this finding. A statistical breakdown is available to the
public. It is so general, however, it cannot be used for acknowledgment purposes. Self-
identification as Duwamish by the petitioner’s members was not an issue in the PF in this
case, and generally is not evaluated in acknowledgment cases because it is not relevant to
the criteria in 83.7(a)-(g).

The issue of identity or self-identification is raised by Whittlesey and Roe. Roe’s “Study
I” extracts information from interviews with 14 present or former council members and
revamps it into a survey format. Roe found that the 14 council members “identify
strongly with Duwamish ethnicity” (Roe 1998, 11-12). Data on self-identification with
Duwamish ethnicity, limited to 14 council members (about 3 percent of the total
membership), presumably among the most active members of the petitioner, can not be
viewed as typical or representative of the membership. The sample is much too limited to
show that a predominant proportion of the membership shares this viewpoint. Even if it
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were shown, the regulations are designed to evaluate how people act as a group more than
how they say that they think or feel about being Indian. Roe may be arguing that this
shared identity may somehow demonstrate shared culture. If a petitioner can show
significant examples of shared culture, it may be used as evidence that the petitioner meets
criterion 83.7(b). In past cases, petitioners have shown that they share an Indian language
or dialect, unique religion, kinship system, and so forth. General and amorphous
“feelings” about ethnicity do not rise to the level of evidence that is acceptable under the
regulations for showing that the petitioner’s members live in a distinct community,
especially in the absence of objective data demonstrating they act as a group."?

The petitioner’s researcher Roe makes many arguments concerning identity. He says:

The Duwamish participants in the present study are modern American
Indians; they are not fully assimilated ‘Anglos’ who are descendants of
Indians. They demonstrate an integration mode of acculturation, in that
they have maintained distinct ethnic identities while participating in the
dominant society. Their Federal unacknowledged status has been
irrelevant to their Duwamish Indian identity. Most have identified
themselves to themselves and others as American Indian for their entire
lives (Roe 1998, 34).

No data were submitted that would demonstrate that “most” of the petitioner’s members
have “identified as Duwamish their whole lives.” This is an assertion that Roe makes even
though he points out that the sample he is working with is extremely limited. Roe also
tried to utilize the Hansen survey done in 1987 by a past chairman of the petitioner and
critiqued in the PF. Roe emphasizes its findings on identity, saying that “only two items
from the Hansen (1987) survey are relevant to this category. Basically the people
interviewed identified as Duwamish or part Duwamish (Roe 1998). Self-identification
does not provide evidence under 83.7(b).

How individuals identify themselves is not evidence that is acceptable or relevant under
the acknowledgment regulations. Virtually all petitioners are made up of individuals who,
at least in part, identify themselves as Indian. This is true even for those who have not
demonstrated Indian ancestry or who only recently have located an Indian ancestor.
Conversely, the fact that members may switch racial/ethnic identities in certain social
environments has not been viewed as evidence that a petitioner does not meet the
regulations.

One of Roe’s arguments concerned a general requirement of the regulations that

13 Such feelings do not distinguish petitioners. Virtually all petitioners profess that they
“feel Indian” or “identify with Indians.”
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continuous existence be demonstrated.’ Roe claims that it is necessary to look only at
“endpoints,” apparently taking the position that a Duwamish tribe existed historically and
the petitioner claims to be the Duwamish tribe and so exists now. He assumes that
similarities at the “endpoints” allow an assumption of continuity between the endpoint. He
says:

These participants demonstrate continuity and synthesis in their endpoints
of acculturation. Continuity is evident in their ‘characteristic Duwamish’
attitude and behavior toward a personal natural world, American Indian
cultural symbols, and in their participation in a variety of cultural practices
(Roe 1998, 34). '

These general statements about the three “studies” described in the petitioner’s submission
authored by Roe have not been validated because first, the studies did not examine actual
behavior; second, the concept of what are “American Indian cultural symbols” used in
these studies is unclear and not uniquely Duwamish; and third, past determinations have
not accepted the comparison of “endpoints,” as advocated in these studies, as relevant
evidence under the regulations.

The regulations require that contemporary evidence demonstrate continuous community
and political authority from historical times to the present. It is useful to note that the BIA
has worked with many petitioners, some who can not establish Indian ancestry, who have
asserted the same or similar cultural symbols and values as Roe utilizes for the DTO. This
background and experience with other petitioners and the application of general
anthropological methodology enables evaluators to discern that the cultural continuities
asserted by this petitioner are too general to show that the present political organization
was continuously maintained from a specific Duwamish traditional cultural pattern. In
addition, Roe’s report does not indicate that these “American Indian cultural symbols” are
shared among a substantial proportion of the petitioning group today or that they are
significant to their lives.

Roe argues that acculturation is not synonymous with assimilation (Roe 1998). This is
true; however, the issue here is whether the Duwamish petitioner has continued to exist as
a distinct community, whether acculturated or not. The regulations and their past
applications have not penalized petitioners who have by and large acculturated (taken on
the culture of a dominant society) and may even appear to their neighbors to be somewhat
assimilated (become an integral part of the dominant society). The issue is whether they
have maintained on their own a separate and distinct social community. Thus, even
institutions which may appear to be non-Indian in cultural origin, such as Christian

14" A showing of continuous existence is required by law and regulation. The Federal
Government through the administrative process merely acknowledges tribes that have continued to
exist.
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churches, segregated dance halls, or a small town government, have in past cases been
accepted as evidence that a community and political authority have been maintained by the
petitioner. Additionally, most petitioners, including those that have been acknowledged
through the acknow!|edgment regulations, live and work in the dominant society. The
problem the Duwamish petitioner has is that they have not demonstrated any community,
whether acculturated or not acculturated in character. What is possible is not at issue.
The facts of the DT case are at issue. The DTO submission of Roe’s study did not
provide relevant evidence to meet the requirements of 83.7(b).

Evaluation

The PF found that the petitioner did not meet 83.7(b) at any time. It found that before
1925, when the DTOQ was first established, the petitioner’s ancestors had little or no
interaction either with the Indians of the historical Duwamish settlements in the southern
Puget Sound area or with Duwamish who had already moved to reservations. It also
found that after 1925, the petitioner’s members, outside of the annual meetings, interacted
only with individuals from their own family lines. Finally, it found that the petitioner’s
current members do not maintain a community that is distinct from the surrounding non-
Indian population. :

The petitioner responded by submitting interpretations of data from Catholic church
documents before 1¢35 and census records. Evaluation of these submissions reinforced
the PF that the petitioner’s ancestors were widely dispersed throughout the Puget Sound
area and that evidence did not indicate that they commonly interacted with one another as
part of an off-reservation Indian community, with communities where Indians lived or with
reservation Indians. The census records did not locate off-reservation Duwamish
communities in 1910 or in 1920.

The petitioner specifically responded to statements in the PF about Myron Overacker’s
relationship to Dr. Jack, a turn of the century Duwamish man. The document which was
submitted, however, was undated and unsigned and its content did not link Overacker’s
leadership of the DT'O after 1925 with a Duwamish leader in the late 19th century. The
DTO submitted a transcript of a 1976 discussion between two elderly men, Myron
Overacker and Henrv Moses. They discussed events which did not deal with DTO,
activities which they had eye-witnessed sixty or seventy years before, or undertakings by
19th century Duwamish they had read about in newspapers or heard about from their
elders. These recollections are not adequate to describe a community associated with the -
petitioner before or after 1925.

The petitioner persists in rearguing their point that the Roblin Roll identifies an off-
reservation Duwamish community. Roblin himself denied this position and said that many
individuals of Indian ancestry on his roll had given up tribal relations years earlier. The
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petitioner also submits a series of correspondence concerning the probate of Kitty
Bigelow. These documents tend to reinforce the PF that the petitioner’s ancestors were
not in contact with other Indians and demonstrate that they may not be in contact with
distant relatives of their own family line.

Although Micheal Roe’s study was submitted by the petitioner in reference to criterion
83.7(c), some of the arguments contained in it appear to refer to criterion 83.7(b) rather
than 83.7(c), especially when he argues that the DTO membership share “cultural values”
and “commitment to Duwamish way of life, attendance at Duwamish gatherings, skin
color, preference for Indian food.” He does not show how these issues relate to political
activities. However, if a researcher could show that a petitioner’s membership did share
specific and distinct “cultural values” based upon on-going interactions, then this could be
used as evidenice to demonstrate the petitioner meets criterion 83.7(b). In this case, this is
not demonstrated because the “cultural values” discussed in the Roe report are not specific
to DTO members, not based on their interactions or group acculturation processes, and do
not distinguish them from others living in the Pacific northwest. In addition, the surveys
on which Roe bases his statements are methodologically flawed and conflict with one
another. Other arguments made by Roe concerning social networks, activities, and
visiting are nct supported by evidence other than a series of unverifiable surveys; they are
only asserted in Roe’s text.

The use of the 1990 census to show that the DTO members identify themselves as
Duwamish Indians cannot be accepted as evidence under 83.7(b) (or other criteria)
because the cznsus identifications are based on self-identification of individuals to the
enumerators and it is impossible to know who specifically identified as Duwamish. Other
instances of self-identification as Duwamish cannot be accepted. Many individuals who
are not members of Indian tribes and who may not even have Indian ancestry similarly
identify themselves as Indians. Self-identification does not indicate that a tribal
community exists, especially in the absence of other evidence.

In sum, the comments submitted in response to the DTO PF provide no basis for changing
the conclusions that there is insufficient evidence that the petitioner meets the
requirements of criterion 83.7(b) for community. No new evidence was submitted to
show that the petitioner met criterion 83.7(b) at any time since it was founded in 1925, or
that it was a continuation of a prior existing community.

In general, the submission did not directly refer to the regulations’ requirements or to the
PF. Some of the interpretations seem to misrepresent the regulations and how they have
been applied in past decisions. The handful of contemporary documents that were
submitted tended to support the conclusions of the PF. The attempts by the petitioner to
use the Catholic church records, the Federal Census data from 1900, 1910 and 1920, and
Overacker’s family papers tended to corroborate the PF that the petitioner’s ancestors
were not interacting with Duwamish Indians on or off reservations.
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Summary Conclusion Under Criterion 83.7(b)

The available evidence did not establish by a reasonable likelihood that a substantial
portion of the petitioning group inhabits a specific area or lives in a community viewed as
American Indian andl distinct from other populations in the area, even though the
petitioner’s members do descend from an Indian tribe or band that inhabited the Southern
Puget Sound region in 1855.

CRITERION C

83.7 (¢) A statement of facts which establishes that the
petitioner has maintained tribal political
influence or other authority over its members as
an autonomous entity throughout history until
the present.

Proposed Finding

The PF concluded that the petitioner evolved from an organization formed in 1925, and
had not demonstrated that it was a continuously existing group which had maintained
political influence over its members throughout history until the present. The PF granted
that a historical Duwamish tribe or band had continued to exercise political influence at a
traditional village site until about 1896 (DTO PF Summary, 12). Between 1896 and 1925,
the PF concluded, there was partial evidence of the existence of a political entity only for
the period from 1915 to 1917. The available evidence did not demonstrate continuity
between a 1915 Duwamish organization and the DTO formed in 1925 (DTO PF
Summary, 13-15).

Evidence about the DT was limited mostly to the years after 1935 during claims
initiatives. The major reasons for the petitioner’s failure to meet criterion 83.7(c) for the
years after 1925 were findings that: (1) the DTO organization had played only a very
limited claims role in the lives of its members; (2) members were not involved in the
organization and in making decisions for the organization; and (3) no instrumental political
relationship or political interaction existed between the organization’s small set of leaders
and its members (DTO PF Summary, 15-16). In short, there was insufficient evidence that
the petitioner’s members or ancestors existed as a group with a functioning bilateral
political process, as has been required in acknowledgment cases.
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Comments on the Proposed Finding

1. Description of the submission under criterion 83.7(c); DTO submission “Tribal
Initiatives 1396-1935 and the Continuity of Membership” by Stephen Dow Beckham.

Duwamish political activities and leadership between 1896 and 1935 are reviewed in a
report submitted by the petitioner in response to the PF entitled “Tribal Initiatives, 1896-
1935 and the Continuity of Membership” by Stephen Dow Beckham (Beckham 1998).
Although Beckham does not mention any particular acknowledgment criterion in the text
of his report, and although the petitioner’s attorney has attached a title page indicating that
this report is a response to criterion 83.7(b), in fact the issues addressed by Beckham’s
report relate to criterion 83.7(c). The petitioner claims to have responded to

criterion 83.7(c) with a report by Professor Micheal D. Roe entitled “Duwamish Indian
Modern Coramunity” (Roe 1998). Roe’s report deals exclusively with the petitioner’s
members’ beliefs and attitudes in recent years and relates more to criterion 83.7(b) than to
criterion 83.7(c). '

The vast ma ority of Beckham’s report cites to evidence submitted for the PF, rather than
presenting new evidence, and repeats arguments made in submissions for the PF, rather
than respondling to the evaluation presented in the Summary under the Criteria or the
analysis presented in the technical reports for the PF. All of the events discussed in
Beckham’s new report had been discussed or mentioned in the PF technical reports, and
Beckham’s report has not attempted to refute the technical reports directly.

Roe’s report is more a discussion of academic theory than a presentation of evidence
relevant to tae acknowledgment criteria, which he does not mention. His report contains
only eight pages about “tribal participation,” and that presentation consists almost
exclusively of tables of the priorities and goals of a small selection of the petitioner’s
members, rather than evidence of any actual group political activities. Roe also does not
comment directly on the Summary under the Criteria or the technical reports of the PF.

In addition, anthropologist Tollefson’s articles touch on information that seems to fall
under criterion 83.7(c), although labeled by the petitioner as applying to criterion 83.7(a).
The petitioner’s response argues that the BIA ignored a number of Tollefson’s articles,
including his. article on chiefdoms:

. . . the Bibliography for the 1996 Ruling fails to identify much of
[Tollefson’s] body of work on Duwamish issues as having been among the
materials reviewed and utilized by BAR. This omission is startling since
Tollefson is universally recognized as the leading authority and expert on
the Duwamish Tribe (DTO 1998, 10 n.10).
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Much of this criticism seems to be setting up a straw man by incorrectly characterizing the
PF and the BIA’s evaluation. The PF HTR discussed Tollefson’s work at length (DTO PF
HTR, 8).

2. Discussion of peiitioner s ancestors or Duwamish Tribe before 1896 does not change
the PF.

Since the PF found that a historical Duwamish tribe met 83.7(c) until 1896, additional
evidence about political processes prior to 1896 is not necessary in response to the PF.
However, several of the Tollefson articles promote his theories concerning the existence
of a Duwamish chiefdom'® during treaty times. The PF cited studies by other
anthropologists and concluded that, “With the lone exception of the petitioner's
researcher, the scholars who have studied the aboriginal cultures of western Washington
have concluded, as DDavid Buerge has written, that ‘a centralized authority was not highly
developed among the Puget Sound peoples. . . .”” (DTO PF HTR, 8).'¢

A discussion of aboriginal and proto-contact political organization is unnecessary here
because the period before 1896 is not in question. It is not clear how the petitioner
believes that Tollefson’s position would have changed the PF. The PF already found that
a Duwamish tribe did exist until this time, and that “Federal negotiators combined the
historical Duwamish tribe with other tribes and bands into confederated ‘treaty tribes’ for
the purpose of making a treaty in 1855 and continued to deal with treaty-reservation
Indians as the ‘Duwamish and allied tribes’” (61 F.R. 33763). Other acknowledgment
decisions from Puget Sound also found that the issue of pre-treaty organization generally
has not been an issue: (see Cowlitz FD and Snoqualmie FD).

Tollefson’s article “Political Organization of the Duwamish” says that after European
settlers arrived in 1850, they appropriated the land and resources of the Duwamish and
undermined their political economy, reducing the chiefdoms to isolated communities and
enclaves of Indian families. Tollefson does not describe specifically the isolated
communities he references. However, the description of isolated Indian families agrees
with the PF’s specific descriptions of how the petitioner’s ancestors lived in isolated family
enclaves widely distributed around Puget Sound. New evidence was not submitted to
show that they interacted with each other or with the Duwamish Indians who were living
on reservations or in Indian communities. This article does not provide evidence or

15 “Chiefdom’ is a technical term used by anthropologists to describe a level of political
organization where access to power and authority is differentially distributed by rank within a
common kinship systern. On the northwest coast, this generally meant that lineages were ranked.
The famous northwest coast potlatches tended to reinforce ranking while redistributing wealth.

18 Sec Buerge 1980, 14; Smith 1941, 197; Drucker 1965, 47, 70; Ruby and Brown 1986,
72; Cole and Darling 1990, 128; Tollefson 1989, 135; Miller and Boxberger 1994, 279, 288.
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argument to ater the PF.

The specific example of the Sackman logging community offered in the petitioner’s
response maintains that the PF underestimated the importance of the Sackmans and their
community between 1860 and 1890. They offer Tollefson’s work in response (Tollefson
1992). As previously addressed, this article discusses the Sackman logging settlement,
headed by a white man, Daniel Sackman, who married an Indian woman. Tollefson
propounds the view that Daniel Sackman acted as an intermediary between the Indians
and non-Indians: “Daniel Sackman, a white man, served as cultural broker and advocate
for the settlement. . .. Three Sackman sons married local Indians, inherited their father’s
logging business, and perpetuated their community. . . .” (Tollefson 1992, 99). The
petition did not give specific examples of Daniel Sackman acting as a mediator. The
activities of a non-Indian spouse on behalf of a family does not provide evidence that the
petitioner had leaders or political processes.

Beckham also attempts to deal with the political issue. His report does not provide
specific examples of the exercise of Duwamish political influence between 1896 and 1915.
Rather, Beckham simply asserts that after the death of Chief William in 1896, his nephew
William Rogers replaced him as chief between 1896 and 1915 (Beckham 1998, 7).
Beckham describes no leadership activities of Rogers prior to 1915, and the petitioner
provides no new documents from the years between 1896 and 1915 relating to Duwamish
political leadership or a Duwamish group’s political influence over its members. Instead,
Beckham seeks to demonstrate Duwamish political influence with outsiders.

First, Beckham contends that a Duwamish group “mounted a successful political program
to secure direct [congressional] appropriations” for its members (Beckham 1998, 30).
The historical technical report for the PF surveyed the history of congressional
appropriations between 1880 and 1923 on behalf of the “Duwamish and allied tribes” of
the Treaty of Point Elliott of 1855 and the four reservations created by that treaty (DTO
PF HTR, 22-23).!7 Beckham makes claims, contrary to the PF, that the appropriations
made in the ten years between 1905 and 1915 were made explicitly for the “D’Wamish
Indians” rather than for the allied tribes (Beckham 1998, 30). The evidence which he cites
from the appropriation statutes, however, shows that all of those acts used the language
“D’Wamish and other allied tribes” in Washington (Kappler 3:48, 133, 245, 301, 344,
420, 446, 549, 584). The evidence does not support Beckham’s contention that these
were “nine special appropriations . . . exclusively benefitting the Duwamish Tribe,” much
less benefitting the DTO petitioner or its possible antecedents (Beckham 1998, 30). More

17 The PF Historical Report states: “While the appropriations were being made for the
support of the Duwamish and the other treaty tribes, officials of the Office of Indian Affairs
testified before Congress that these funds were necessary for ‘Indians who reside on four widely
separated reservations’ (U.S. House 1922).” Beckham erroneously equates the “D’wamish”
mentioned in these appropriations with the petitioner.
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to the point, Beckham offers not a shred of evidence that the petitioner or its members
participated in a political program or political activity in order to secure appropriations
from Congress.

Second, Beckham contends that the Duwamish cooperated with visiting anthropologists
and scholars in order “to carry out a commitment to preserve their history and culture in
the years after 1896" (Beckham 1998, 31). Beckham notes the anthropological research
of George Dorsey in 1898-1900, the “ethnogeographical” research on place names of
Thomas Waterman about 1920, and the literary research of Arthur Ballard in 1916-1929
(Beckham 1998, 31-36). He also lists publications of Herman Haeberlin and Franz Boas,
and the manuscript ficld notes of John Peabody Harrington (Beckham 1998, 36-37). With
the exception of Boas, whose article was a linguistic study, all of these scholars were cited
in the technical reports for the PF (DTO PF ATR, 7, 9, 11-16, 23-26, 32-34, 37-40, 51-
52, 54, 59, 70-73, 84, DTO PF HTR, 6, 30-31). Beckham does not describe the
participation of the informants for these scholars as anything other than individual
participation by a few individuals. He describes the activities of outside researchers, not
the activities of a group and its leaders.

Beckham provided no new evidence about the leadership of William Rogers before 1914,
congressional appropriations before 1914, or anthropological research between 1896 and
the 1920's, and thus has provided no basis for changing the conclusions of the PF.
Because Beckham’s discussion of leaders, appropriations, and anthropological research
during the period before 1914 furnishes no evidence of the political activities of members,
the maintenance of political influence over members by leaders among the petitioner’s
ancestors, or a bilateral political relationship between members and leaders throughout
history until the present, it does not provide sufficient evidence that meets the
requirements of criterion 83.7(c).

3. DTO'’s submission for the period 1914 - 1917 and the Roblin Enrollment Process
provides no basis for changing the PF.

Between 1914 and 1916, Beckham argues that a Duwamish group undertook political
activities to obtain a reservation and to protect fishing rights (Beckham 1998, 7-16).
Beckham’s sources are affidavits made in 1914 or 1915 by William Rogers, James Moses,
and Charles Satiacum, and an account of a 1916 meeting between the BIA and Thomas
Bishop, the president of the Northwestern Federation of American Indians. These
affidavits, the notes of this meeting, and these historical issues were discussed in the
technical reports for the PF (DTO PF HTR, 45-49; DTO PF ATR, 79-88). Beckham
describes goals mentioned in affidavits by three men at one specific time, but does not
show either that they influenced followers to act or that they stated these goals in response
to political activity bv members. Beckham describes no activities by members or leaders,
except to mention that a meeting of Duwamish individuals was held in 1916. The only
actions Beckham describes are those of non-Duwamish Thomas Bishop of an intertribal
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organization Beckham presents this intertribal activity, erroneously, as if it were
Duwamish tribal activity.

A 1915 list cf the members of a Duwamish organization, and its leaders, was discussed in
the technical reports for the PF (DTO PF HTR, 45-48, 52-55; DTO PF ATR, 81-82, 86,
95-103). Beckham notes that the 1915 list of members referred to Charles Satiacum as
“chief” and William Rogers as “sub-chief” (Beckham 1998, 61). Beckham also lists
William Rogers as “chief” from 1896 to 1915, and Satiacum as the successor of Rogers in
1915 and “chief” from 1915 to 1925 (Beckham 1998, 7). However, Beckham cites Court
of Claims testimony which made Rogers the successor of Satiacum, and cites Waterman’s
1920 field nctes in a way which implies that Rogers (not Satiacum) was considered a
“chief’ in 1920 (Beckham 1998, 5-6). Beckham offers no explanation of how “chief”
Rogers became subordinate to “chief” Satiacum in 1915, or how a transition of leadership
occurred at that time.

Beckham contends that the 1915 membership list was an incomplete work, citing its
reference to members “to this date.” He calls the list a work “in progress” that “was part
of an unfolding project of the tribe to enumerate its members” (Beckham 1998, 62).
However, the use of the phrase “members . . . to this date” can also be read not as a
statement of incompleteness, but as a statement that people born in the future would not
be excluded from membership. Beckham’s argument, that the 1915 membership list was
an initial list which later expanded into a fuller membership list by an ongoing process of
enrollment, vwould have merit if the individuals on the 1915 list had remained on the later
list in 1926. The technical reports for the PF demonstrated, however, that this was not the
case (DTO PF HTR, 52-55; DTO PF ATR, 95-103). Beckham does not show continuity
of leadership in 1915 from Rogers to Satiacum and does not demonstrate an implied
continuity of membership lists after 1915.

The petitioner’s only new substantive evidence about the years prior to the present are a
pair of newspaper articles about a Duwamish meeting in December 1916, at the start of
the BIA’s project to list the unenrolled Indians of Washington State (Tacoma Daily News
12/19/1916, and Tacoma News-Ledger 12/24/1916). The existence of this meeting was
specifically acknowledged in the anthropological technical report for the PF (DTO PF
ATR, 91). Beckham notes that these Tacoma newspapers referred to Charles Satiacum as
a “leader of the Duwamish Indians” who had called people together for a meeting with
Indian Agent Charles Roblin (Beckham 1998, 16-19). These newspaper articles provide
some evidence that outsiders attributed leadership to Satiacum and an ability to summon
people to meet. Thus they indicate the existence of some political influence among some
Duwamish descendants in 1916. However, the 1915 membership list of Satiacum’s group
showed that it represented only some of the petitioner’s ancestors. Further, it has not
been demonstrated that the petitioner has evolved from Satiacum’s group.

The Roblin enrollment process was described in the technical reports for the PF (DTO PF
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HTR, 41-45, DTO PF ATR, 88-93). Beckham contends that a 1917 letter by Roblin
reveals that he “was assisting the Duwamish Tribe in its own enroliment efforts” because
he mentioned sharing information with the Duwamish claims attorney. However, Roblin’s
letter indicated that the only genealogical information he proposed to share with the
attorney concerned Indians already enrolled on reservations, because they would not be
listed in his report (Beckham 1998, 63-64). The empbhasis of criterion 83.7(c) is not on
Federal activities, but on the petitioner’s activities. At best, Roblin’s letter refers to an
attorney’s activities, not to a group’s own activities. Beckham’s brief account of Roblin’s
enrollment project does not describe group political activities or a group’s political
influence over its members.

Beckham notes that Attorney Arthur Griffin and a committee of Duwamish entered into a
contract in December 1917, which provided that he would represent them in a claim
against the United Stztes. That attorney contract and attorney Griffin’s activities were
described in the technical reports for the PF (DTO PF HTR, 16, 48-49; DTO PF ATR,
87-88). Although the technical report noted that this claim sought land, Beckham
emphasizes that Griffin presented the Duwamish claim as a request for land, not just for a
cash settlement (Beckham 1998, 20-23). This is a largely irrelevant distinction for the
requirements of criterion 83.7(c). The issues for criterion 83.7(c), which Beckham’s
report does not address, are: whether the claim for land or money was significant to
members, not just to a small number of leaders; whether claims activity demonstrated the
existence of bilateral political processes in which members and leaders influenced each
other; and whether the group’s political activities included issues other than claims and
constituted an internal group political process. Beckham describes this attorney’s
activities, rather than presenting new evidence about group activities.

Beckham contends that between 1917 and 1925 the Duwamish “mounted a political
campaign to secure a jurisdictional act” to submit a claim to the Court of Claims
(Beckham 1998, 23). He also describes that effort, however, as one in which the
intertribal Northwestern Federation of American Indians mounted the lobbying effort to
obtain such a bill. The legislative history of the jurisdictional act of 1925 was described in
the historical technical report for the PF (DTO PF HTR, 55-56). Beckham’s account adds
a few new details to the legislative history of jurisdictional bills. However, Beckham
merely reviews the bills and presents no evidence that there were activities of DTO leaders
or members to obtain such an act.

The petitioner’s response has provided no new evidence about the affidavits of 1914-
1915, the 1915 membership list, or the 1917 attorney contract, and minimal new
information about a 1916 meeting related to the Roblin enrollment project and the
jurisdictional bills to authorize a claims suit during 1917-1925. Thus, Beckham has
provided no basis for changing the conclusions of the PF about the period from 1914 to
1925.
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The PF noted that there was partial evidence of group political activity on only three
occasions between 1896 and 1925, all of which occurred in the brief period from
December 1915 to December 1917 (DTO PF Summary, 13-14). In December 1915, a
membership list of 361 individuals was created for a Duwamish organization under the
leadership of Charles Satiacum. In March 1916, a resolution was signed by 184
individuals to request the Northwest Federation of American Indians to lobby on behalf of
the Duwamish. In December 1917, a contract was approved by a committee of Duwamish
and attorney Arthur Griffin. The petitioner's response has added evidence about
Satiacum's pclitical influence in summoning people to a meeting with Agent Roblin in
December 1916. Thus, to the extent that the record for this case contains limited evidence
of political influence among the petitioner’s ancestors, it was confined to a brief period of
about two years out of the 29 years between 1896 and 1925, and related mostly to a
historical organization (Satiacum’s 1915 organization) which has not been shown to be a
precursor to the DTO petitioner.

4. The DTO ‘s response concerning the post-1925 organization and membership lists
between 1925 and 1934 does not provide a basis for changing the PF.

A 1925 constitution of a Duwamish organization was discussed in the technical reports for
the PF (DTO PF HTR, 49-51; DTO PF ATR, 93-95). Beckham notes the existence of
that constitution, provides information about its eight signers, lists its statement of
purpose, and makes the point that it stated purposes beyond the pursuit of claims
(Beckham 1998, 24-28). He argues that the signers claimed a link to the past with a
reference to “Business Councils of the early days” (Beckham 1998, 26). The historical
technical report noted, however, that the constitution and signers did not claim any
continuity from Satiacum’s 1915 organization (DTO PF HTR, 49). Beckham argues for
continuity of the 1925 leaders from the 1915 organization, while the technical reports
found a lack of continuity of a predominant portion of the membership from 1915 to 1926
(DTO PF HTR, 52-55; DTO PF ATR, 95-103). The constitution’s signers and purposes
also were discussed in the technical reports, which acknowledged the point that the
constitution stated purposes other than claims. A constitution’s statement of purposes,
however, does not show the maintenance of actual political participation by members or
the political influence of a group over its members.

The PF concluded that the actual governing style or form which characterized the post-
1925 organization demonstrated that the DTO was not a continuation of an earlier tribal
organization, even though it had a constitution and officers. Tollefson argues that this
governing document provides for officers with characteristics he believes are based on
traditional leadership roles (Tollefson 1995b, 90). The author attempts to show that:

[sJome additional powers of a traditional Puget Sound chief (Sieb) were
retained in the new Duwamish Constitution through the office of the
‘president’ of the tribe -- currently referred to as the tribal chairperson. . . .
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the Duwamish Tribe never replaced the office of tribal chief and so created
the office of president (chairperson) with special powers much like that of
an aboriginal chief Both tribal constitutions retained the life term of office
for members of the tribal council. . . . The constitutional description of the
Duwamish tribal chairperson with the power to veto over the council
retained mary features of the traditional chief found in the literature of the
northwest Coast cultural area. The . . . chairperson, much like their former
chiefs, serves for a term of life, represents the Tribe in public functions,
participates in council decisions, approves new members, calls tribal
meetings, has veto powers over the council, and presides at tribal council
meetings (Tollefson 1995b, 90).

The problem as discussed in the PF Summary under the Criteria (DTO PF Summary, 14)
is that the post-1925 organization and its leaders “played a very limited role in the lives of
its members. . . . This business consisted of formal action to elect officers, accept new
members, endorse attorney contracts, or delegate members to attend inter-tribal meetings”
(DTO PF Summary, 14). The PF questioned whether the chief actually performed
functions as provided in the written document. The problem raised in the PF was that
DTO, no matter how it was organized on paper, did not make decisions, hold regular
meetings, maintain a membership list, vote or informally pass-on decisions to accept new
members or function as a tribe in many ways after its founding in 1925. Because the
evidence from the PY indicated that the post-1925 leaders played very limited roles in the
daily lives of the DT(O membership, new relevant evidence would have to be submitted to
show otherwise. It was not submitted. Rather, the same assertions rejected in the PF are
made again, without submitting the evidence needed to demonstrate they are accurate
descriptions of the petitioning entity.

Beckham argues that the Duwamish hired an attorney in 1925 to pursue claims against the
United States, and renewed that contract in 1933 (Beckham 1998, 29-30). Both the 1925
attorney’s contract and the 1933 contract renewal were discussed in the historical
technical report for the PF (DTO PF HTR, 56-57). Beckham implies that this attorney’s
contract was made with the new Duwamish Tribal Organization (DTQ) formed in 1925.
The historical technical report pointed out, however, that the contract was made with a
general council of descendants from all of the historical tribes represented in the 1855
treaty. The 1933 reneswal of the contract was signed by representatives or descendants of
15 treaty tribes and bands. Beckham contends that continuity exists between the 1925 and
1933 contract signers and the individuals enumerated on the 1915 Duwamish membership
list; however, analysis of this and other relevant evidence in the technical reports found a
lack of continuity between the 1915 membership list and the DTO’s 1926 membership list
(DTO PF HTR, 52-55; DTO PF ATR, 95-103). Following review and consideration, it
was determined that Beckham’s report contains no new evidence that requires a revision
of the conclusions of the PF.
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A 1926 list of individuals was discussed and thoroughly analyzed by the technical reports
for the PF (DTO PF HTR, 51-55; DTO PF ATR, 94-103). Beckham does not attempt to
compare the 1915 and 1926 lists, nor to evaluate the comparison of those lists in the
technical reports. Beckham makes a vague reference to “other lists of members”
developed between 1926 and 1934. He does not provide, identify, or cite such lists. He
contends that the 1926-1934 lists “were the next evolution” of the petitioner’s
membership list which began in 1915. He also states that the creation of Duwamish
membership lists after 1926 was an informal process (Beckham 1998, 66-67). The fact
that a group’s membership process was informal rather than formal has no impact on an
evaluation of criterion (c). If the 1926 list of members, or later lists of members, were an
“evolution” of the 1915 list of members, then all members on the 1915 list, except those
who had died in the interim, should have been included on the later lists. The technical
reports for the PF demonstrated, however, that this was not the case for the 1926 list
(DTO PF HTR, 52-55; DTO PF ATR, 95-103). Beckham’s report does not demonstrate
continuity between the 1915 list and any subsequent lists. ’

The petitioner claims that the PF underestimated the importance of the Sackman family as
leaders in the early 20th century. (See previous discussion of Sackmans.) A table in
Tollefson’s 1995 article shows “Sackman representatives on the Tribal Council,”
beginning with Maurice Sackman (1925-51) (Tollefson 1995b, 100). The article says that
even though the Sackman community was located across Puget Sound from Seattle, it
always maintained political ties with the Duwamish Tribal Council. It is accurate to say
that the Sackmans have been part of the post-1925 DTO. Some also appear on the 1915
list and the Roblin Roll. However, the Historical Technical Report for the PF pointed out
that “the Sackman family of Kitsap County emerged to prominence in the 1926 list.”

These isolated and disjointed facts drawn from various membership lists do not explain the
relationship of the Sackman family to the DTO families. Participation by a few individuals
in the DTO claims organization does not demonstrate community or political authority in a
tribal entity. They are not shown to be part of a DTO social or political entity that deals
with significant issues or plays a significant role in individual members’ lives. Any
evidence about the Sackman family and their possible relationships to other Duwamish
were discussed in detail in the PF. Although the family has participated in DTO affairs
since 1926, a relationship to the Duwamish Tribe before 1915 is not demonstrated even
though a depiction of their life and work in their father’s logging camp in Kitsap County
has been documented and submitted as evidence. (See above).

Beckham has provided no new evidence about the 1925 constitution, the 1925 and 1933
contracts with a claims attorney, or any membership lists after 1925. Thus, Beckham, like
Roe and Tollefson, has provided no basis for changing the conclusions of the PF. Because
Beckham’s discussion of the constitution, contracts, and membership lists during the
period from 1925 to 1935 provides no evidence of the political activities of DTO’s
members, the political influence over members by leaders, or a bilateral political
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relationship between members and leaders, it does not provide sufficient evidence that
meets the requirements of criterion 83.7(c).

Linda Dombrowski suomitted 47 exhibits in manila files in which she makes specific
arguments to show thet there was more continuity in membership between the 1915 and
1926 membership lists than revealed in the PF. The BIA genealogist’s evaluation of
Dombrowski’s specific arguments about particular family lines appears in an appendix to
this document.

Dombrowski claims that BIA’s PF Appendix D, comparing names from both 1915 and
1926 lists, failed to account for (i) ages, (ii) deaths, (iii) name changes, and (iv) the effects
of those phenomena. The PF acknowledged these factors. Dombrowski also refers BIA-
to Tollefson’s work for evidence of “tribal social and political continuity.” She claims that
the BIA failed to applv the demographic evidence it generated or was provided, and
ignored the impact of 1915-1926 mortality factors, including Spanish influenza, small pox,
and World War I. The petitioner’s response to the PF included a variety of presentations

- by Dombrowski, a ressarcher who worked with a number of petitioners through grants to
STOWW, the Small Tribes Organization of Western Washington, to illustrate their points;
these included narrative summaries, arranged by individual persons or family groups, in
which arguments were given or evidence cited (but not furnished) for births, marriages,
deaths or probable deaths (Dombrowski 1998), a database printout of persons appearing
in lists from 1915 to 1951 (Exhibit 42), a report of deceased members (Exhibit 41), and
annotated descendant tree charts for selected families (Exhibits 1-39).

The petitioner’s response helped clarify the identities of the listed individuals on the 1915,
1926, 1927-34, and 1951 lists, which assisted in the development of a more accurate
statistical comparison of the 1915 and 1926 (and now 1927-34) lists. However, the
difference between the PF analyses and the analyses which can now be made is minimal.
The PF found “[o]nly 19 percent (60 of 319) of the named members of the 1915 list
appeared on the 1926 list as well,” but allowed that this calculation

underestimates the actual persistence of membership from 1915 to 1926.
Some 1915 members did not appear on the 1926 list because they had died
during the intervening decade. Spellings of names were inconsistent and
typing errors wvere frequent on these lists, so some names on the two lists
may not have been recognized as those of a single individual, and some
name changes due to marriage between 1915 and 1926 may have been
missed (DTO PF HTR, 52).

Considering just those: 319 named persons on the 1915 list, the petitioner’s response
included claims of ma-riages, misidentifications, deaths, and probable deaths which

together would result in 280 yet remaining alive by 1926. Of those 280 individuals, 70
appeared on the 1926 list, accounting for 25 percent of the 1915 members yet living in
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1926.

The petitioner’s response also sought to identify persons who were implied but not named
on the 1915 Iist, such as “children” ascribed to a named parent. This identification by the
petitioner results in a new total of 368 persons listed in 1915. Factoring in the marriages,
misidentifications, deaths, and probable deaths for these persons results in a total of 326
persons from the 1915 list yet living by 1926. Of these 326, 88 (or 27 percent) also
appeared on the 1926 list. Thus, the information provided in the petitioner’s response
affects the raw numbers and percentages given in the PF, but not the conclusion, that only
a “minority of members of the 1915 organization also were members of the 1926
organization” (DTO PF HTR, 52). ‘

Conversely, the analysis presented in the PF concluded that a “majority of the members of
the Duwamish organization formed by the constitution of 1925, probably more than two-
thirds of them, had not been members of the Duwamish organization founded in 1915"
(DTO PF HTR, 54). The PF acknowledged a total of 389 persons listed in 1926, 123 of
whom were of ages (10 or under) which placed their births affer the 1915 list was made,
meaning that only 266 of the 389 were alive in 1915. Factoring in the marriages,
misidentifications, deaths, and probable deaths asserted by Dombrowski, the adjusted total
of persons appearing on both 1915 and 1926 lists rises to 90, from 60 direct name-to-
name matches reported in the PF, which assumed 15 more matches between 1926
members and 1915 unnamed children (DTO PF HTR, 53), as mentioned previously.

The 90 persons on the 1926 list who also appear on the 1915 list therefore comprise 34
percent (90 of 266) of the 1926 members who were alive in 1915. This adjusts the
conclusion o the PF only slightly. The data available for the PF resulted in a calculation
that 28 percent (75 of 266) of 1926 members were also members in 1915 (DTO PF HTR,
54), and an estimation that “probably more than two-thirds” had not been members in
1915. The petitioner-supplied materials support a calculation of and conclusion that two-
thirds (66 percent, or 176 of 266) of the 1926 membership who were alive in 1915 were
not part of that earlier organization.

The inclusion of the 1927-34 membership list, submitted in the petitioner’s response, in
this analysis changes the equation minimally. The 1927-34 list represents 415 persons
total, 386 of whom (or 93 percent) also appear on the 1926 list. Thirteen persons from
the 1926 list (including ten marked as deceased) do not appear on the 1927-34 list, and 29
persons on the 1927-34 list do not appear on the 1926 list. The PF noted that 123 of the
389 members in 1926 were born since 1915 (DTO PF HTR, 54); the 1927-34 list includes
all but one of these children from the 1926 list (122), plus an additional 18 children born
since 1915 who were not on the 1926 list (122 plus 18 equals 140 born since 1915).
Therefore, only 275 (415 minus 140) of the 415 members listed on the 1927-34 list were
alive in 1915, A total of 88 out of the 321 persons (27 percent) on the 1915 list who were
yet living by the end of 1934 also appear on the 1927-34 list. Conversely, those 88
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persons represent 32 percent (88 of 275) of the 1927-34 membership who were alive in
1915.

Dombrowski advocates a departure from a pure name-by-name analysis of lists for
consideration of continuity of family representation between and among lists. Her
descendant tree charts (Exhibits 1-39) are color-coded to indicate (among other things)
each individual’s presence on the 1915 list, the 1926 or 1927-34 list, and the 1951 list, and
these make possible quick visualization of that phenomenon (to the extent that the charts
are correct).

However, as the petiticrier pointed out, not every individual or family was charted and
annotated in this fashion. The changes promulgated by the petitioner’s response to the PF
resulted in a total of 560 individuals represented by the 1915, 1926, and 1927-34 lists, yet
Dombrowski developed descendant tree charts embracing about half of that total.
Moreover, to the extent